


CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended March 31,
$ in thousands except per share data 2024 2023
Interest income:

Loans $ 29,651 $ 25,073 
Mortgage-backed securities 583  619 
Investment securities 1,131  929 
Money market investments 2,654  1,079 

Total interest income 34,019  27,700 

Interest expense:
Deposits 9,079  3,708 
Advances and other borrowed money 2,379  1,203 

Total interest expense 11,458  4,911 

Net interest income 22,561  22,789 
Provision for credit losses 83  100 

Net interest income after provision for credit losses 22,478  22,689 

Non-interest income:
Depository fees and charges 2,208  2,197 
Loan fees and service charges 493  480 
Gain on sale of loans, net 30  107 
Grant income 3,050  439 
Other 942  372 

Total non-interest income 6,723  3,595 

Non-interest expense:
Employee compensation and benefits 13,548  13,186 
Net occupancy expense 4,545  4,604 
Equipment, net 2,047  2,240 
Data processing 2,972  2,562 
Consulting fees 481  505 
Federal deposit insurance premiums 596  389 
Other 7,989  7,199 

Total non-interest expense 32,178  30,685 

Loss before income tax expense (2,977)  (4,401) 
Income tax expense —  — 

Net loss $ (2,977) $ (4,401) 

Loss per common share:
Basic $ (0.61) $ (1.03) 
Diluted $ (0.61) $ (1.03) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended March 31,
$ in thousands 2024 2023
Net loss $ (2,977) $ (4,401) 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Change in unrealized loss of securities available-for-sale, net of income tax expense of $0 (due to 
full valuation allowance)  (490)  (5,553) 

Total other comprehensive loss, net of tax  (490)  (5,553) 
Total comprehensive loss, net of tax $ (3,467) $ (9,954) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

$ in thousands
Preferred 

Stock
Common 

Stock

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Treasury 
Stock

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Total
Equity

Balance—March 31, 2022  25,928  67  82,165  (43,503)  (2,908)  (6,662)  55,087 

Net loss  —  —  —  (4,401)  —  —  (4,401) 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  (5,553)  (5,553) 
Conversion of Series D preferred stock 
to common stock  (550)  1  549  —  —  —  — 

Stock based compensation expense  —  91  —  91 

Balance—March 31, 2023  25,378  68  82,805  (47,904)  (2,908)  (12,215)  45,224 
Cumulative effect adjustment for 
adoption of ASU 2016-13  —  —  —  (668)  —  —  (668) 

Net loss  —  —  —  (2,977)  —  —  (2,977) 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  (490)  (490) 
Conversion of Series D preferred stock 
to common stock  (3,644)  5  3,639  —  —  —  — 

Issuance of common stock  —  4  996  —  —  —  1,000 

Stock based compensation expense  —  —  220  —  —  —  220 

Balance—March 31, 2024 $ 21,734 $ 77 $ 87,660 $ (51,549) $ (2,908) $ (12,705) $ 42,309 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended March 31,
$ in thousands 2024 2023
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss $ (2,977) $ (4,401) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Provision for credit losses  83  100 
Stock based compensation expense  220  91 
Depreciation and amortization expense  965  1,058 
Gain on sale of loans, net  (30)  (107) 
Amortization and accretion of loan premiums and discounts and deferred charges  216  (202) 
Amortization and accretion of premiums and discounts - securities  298  397 
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable  (1,751)  503 
(Increase) decrease in other assets  (541)  480 
Decrease in other liabilities  (3,054)  (8,432) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (6,571)  (10,513) 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from principal payments, maturities and calls of investments: Available-for-sale  5,032  7,812 
Proceeds from principal payments, maturities and calls of investments: Held-to-maturity  304  2,927 
Purchase of bank-owned life insurance  —  (5,000) 
Loans held-for-investment, net of (originations) and repayments/payoffs and maturities  6,275  (9,934) 
Purchase of equity investment  (603)  — 
Loans purchased from third parties  (31,526)  (14,289) 
Proceeds from participation loans sold  —  4,000 
Proceeds from sale of loans  563  1,129 
Redemption (purchase) of FHLB-NY stock  262  (1,682) 
Purchase of premises and equipment  (360)  (225) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (20,053)  (15,262) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase (decrease) in deposits  46,570  (27,688) 
Proceeds from short-term borrowings  —  10,000 
Repayment of short-term borrowings  (10,000)  — 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  5,527  25,000 
Repayment of long-term borrowings  —  (3) 
Issuance of common stock  1,000  — 

Net cash provided by financing activities  43,097  7,309 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  16,473  (18,466) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  42,552  61,018 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 59,025 $ 42,552 

Supplemental cash flow information:
Noncash financing and investing activities

Recognition of right-of-use asset $ — $ 1,103 
Recognition of operating lease liability  —  1,103 
Recognition of finance lease asset  —  183 
Recognition of finance lease liability  —  183 
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock  3,644  550 

Cash paid for:
  Interest $ 10,711 $ 4,621 
  Income taxes  232  193 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CARVER BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1.  ORGANIZATION

Nature of operations

Carver Bancorp, Inc. (on a stand-alone basis, the “Company” or “Registrant”), was incorporated in May 1996 and its 
principal wholly-owned subsidiaries are Carver Federal Savings Bank (the “Bank” or “Carver Federal”) and Alhambra Holding 
Corp., an inactive Delaware corporation.  Carver Federal's wholly-owned subsidiaries are CFSB Realty Corp., Carver 
Community Development Corporation (“CCDC”) and CFSB Credit Corp., which is currently inactive.  The Bank has a real 
estate investment trust, Carver Asset Corporation ("CAC"), that was formed in February 2004.

“Carver,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” refers to the Company along with its consolidated subsidiaries.  The 
Bank was chartered in 1948 and began operations in 1949 as Carver Federal Savings and Loan Association, a federally-
chartered mutual savings and loan association.  The Bank converted to a federal savings bank in 1986.  On October 24, 1994, 
the Bank converted from a mutual holding company structure to stock form and issued 2,314,375 shares of its common stock, 
par value $0.01 per share.  On October 17, 1996, the Bank completed its reorganization into a holding company structure (the 
“Reorganization”) and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 

Carver Federal’s principal business consists of attracting deposit accounts through its branches and investing those 
funds in mortgage loans and other investments permitted by federal savings banks.  The Bank has seven branches located 
throughout the City of New York that primarily serve the communities in which they operate.

In September 2003, the Company formed Carver Statutory Trust I (the “Trust”) for the sole purpose of issuing trust 
preferred securities and investing the proceeds in an equivalent amount of floating rate junior subordinated debentures of the 
Company.  In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, “Consolidation,” Carver Statutory Trust I is 
unconsolidated for financial reporting purposes.  On September 17, 2003, Carver Statutory Trust I issued 13,000 shares, 
liquidation amount $1,000 per share, of floating rate capital securities.  Gross proceeds from the sale of these trust preferred 
debt securities of $13.0 million, and proceeds from the sale of the trust's common securities of $0.4 million, were used to 
purchase approximately $13.4 million aggregate principal amount of the Company's floating rate junior subordinated debt 
securities due 2033.  The trust preferred debt securities are redeemable at par quarterly at the option of the Company beginning 
on or after September 17, 2008, and have a mandatory redemption date of September 17, 2033.  Cash distributions on the trust 
preferred debt securities are cumulative and payable at a floating rate per annum resetting quarterly with a margin of 3.05% 
over the three-month LIBOR.  During the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, the Company applied for and was granted 
regulatory approval to settle all outstanding debenture interest payments through September 2016.  Such payments were made 
in September 2016.  Interest on the debentures had been deferred beginning with the December 2016 payment, per the terms of 
the agreement, which permit such deferral for up to twenty consecutive quarters, as the Company is prohibited from making 
payments without prior regulatory approval.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021, the Company applied for and was 
granted regulatory approval to settle all outstanding debenture interest payments through June 2021.  Full payment was made 
on June 16, 2021.  The Company deferred the September 17, 2021 interest payment, but has since had discussions with the 
Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia regarding future quarterly payments.  A streamlined process has been developed for the 
Company to request regulatory approval to make debenture interest payments.  On December 16, 2021, the Company paid the 
deferred interest that was due on September 17, 2021 and the regular quarterly interest payment due on December 17, 2021. All 
quarterly interest payments subsequent to the June 2021 payment up to and including the June 2024 payment have been made.  
The interest rate was 8.64% and the accrued interest was $45 thousand at March 31, 2024. 

 While Carver has suspended its regular quarterly cash dividend on its common stock, in the future, Carver may rely on 
dividends from Carver Federal to pay cash dividends to its stockholders and to engage in share repurchase programs.  In recent 
years, Carver has been successful in obtaining cash independently through its capital raising efforts, which may include cash 
from government grants or below market-rate loans.  As the subsidiary of a savings and loan association holding company, 
Carver Federal must file a notice or an application (depending on the proposed dividend amount) with the OCC (and a notice 
with the FRB) prior to the declaration of each capital distribution.  The OCC will disallow any proposed dividend that, among 
other reasons, would result in Carver Federal’s failure to meet the OCC minimum capital requirements.  
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Regulation

On May 24, 2016, the Bank entered into a Formal Agreement ("the Agreement") with the OCC to undertake certain 
compliance-related and other actions.  As a result of the Agreement, the Bank was required to obtain the approval of the OCC 
prior to effecting any change in its directors or senior executive officers, paying dividends and entering into any "golden 
parachute payments" as that term is defined under 12 U.S.C. § 1828(k) and 12 C.F.R. Part 359.  As a result of the Agreement, 
Carver was issued an Individual Minimum Capital Ratio ("IMCR") letter by the OCC, which requires the Bank to maintain 
minimum regulatory capital levels of 9% for its Tier 1 leverage ratio and 12% for its total risk-based capital ratio.  The 
Agreement was terminated on January 18, 2023.  The IMCR remains in effect.

The Company continues to be subject to similar requirements that the Bank was subject to under the Agreement.  The 
Company must provide notice to the FRB prior to effecting any change in its directors or senior executive officers.  The 
Company is also subject to restrictions on golden parachute and indemnification payments, as set forth in 12 C.F.R. Part 359.  
Written approval of the Federal Reserve Bank is required prior to (1) the declaration or payment of dividends by the Company 
to its stockholders, (2) the declaration or payment of dividends by the Bank to the Company, (3) any distributions of interest or 
principal by the Company on subordinated debentures or trust preferred securities, (4) any purchases or redemptions of the 
Company's stock and (5) the Company incurring, increasing or guaranteeing certain long-term debt outside the ordinary course 
of business.  These limitations could affect our operations and financial performance.  

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of consolidated financial statement presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the Bank and the Bank's wholly-owned or 
majority-owned subsidiaries, Carver Asset Corporation, CFSB Realty Corp., CCDC, and CFSB Credit Corp., which is currently 
inactive.  All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company's subsidiary, Carver Statutory Trust I, is not consolidated with Carver Bancorp, Inc. for financial 
reporting purposes.  Carver Statutory Trust I was formed in 2003 for the purpose of issuing $13.0 million aggregate liquidation 
amount of floating rate Capital Securities due September 17, 2033 (“Capital Securities”) and $0.4 million of common securities 
(which are the only voting securities of Carver Statutory Trust I), which are 100% owned by Carver Bancorp, Inc., and using 
the proceeds to acquire Junior Subordinated Debentures issued by Carver Bancorp, Inc.  Carver Bancorp, Inc. has fully and 
unconditionally guaranteed the Capital Securities along with all obligations of Carver Statutory Trust I under the trust 
agreement relating to the Capital Securities.  The Company does not consolidate the accounts and related activity of Carver 
Statutory Trust I because it is not the primary beneficiary of the entity.

Variable interest entities (“VIEs”) are consolidated, as required, when Carver has a controlling financial interest in 
these entities and is deemed to be the primary beneficiary.  Carver is normally deemed to have a controlling financial interest 
and be the primary beneficiary if it has both (a) the power to direct activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity's 
economic performance; and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could benefit from the activities that could 
potentially be significant to the VIE.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP).  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated statement of financial 
condition and revenues and expenses for the period then ended.  Amounts subject to significant estimates and assumptions are 
items such as the allowance for credit losses, realization of deferred tax assets, and the fair value of financial instruments.  
While management uses available information to recognize losses on loans, future additions to the allowance for credit loss or 
future writedowns of real estate owned may be necessary based on changes in economic conditions in the areas where Carver 
Federal has extended mortgages and other credit instruments.  Actual results could differ significantly from those assumptions.  
Current market conditions increase the risk and complexity of the judgments in these estimates.

Certain comparative amounts for the prior period have been reclassified to conform to current period presentations.  
Such reclassifications had no effect on net income or shareholders' equity.

Recent Events

The business climate continues to present significant challenges as banks continue to absorb heightened regulatory 
costs and compete for limited loan demand.  Significant increases in food and energy prices resulted from swift increases in the 
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rate of inflation.  The Federal Reserve began increasing the federal funds rate at the March 2022 meeting, and is currently 
maintaining a target interest rate range between 5.25% and 5.5%.  For Carver, the economic climate of New York City (“the 
City”), in particular, impacts our business as the City lags behind the rest of New York State and the nation both in restoring 
pandemic job losses and in rebounding to pre-pandemic levels of unemployment.  The City's unemployment rate remains high 
at 4.9%, exceeding the national average, as employment in the arts and entertainment, food and hospitality sectors continue to 
remain below their pre-pandemic highs.  

The closure of five banks in 2023 led to industry-wide concerns related to liquidity, deposit outflows, unrealized 
securities losses and eroding confidence in the banking system from the general public.  In response to these developments, the 
Company took a number of preemptive actions, which included proactive outreach to clients and steps to maximize its funding 
sources.  As a result, the Company's liquidity position remains adequate.  The impact of market volatility from the adverse 
developments in the banking industry along with continued high inflation and rising interest rates, will depend on future 
developments, which are highly uncertain and difficult to predict.

The Company is closely monitoring its asset quality, liquidity, and capital positions, as well as the credit risk in its loan 
portfolio.  Management is actively working to minimize the current and future impact of the current business and industry 
environment, and is continuing to make adjustments to operations where appropriate or necessary to mitigate risk.  However, 
these factors and events may have negative effects on the business, financial condition, and results of operations of the 
Company and its customers.  

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, amounts due from depository 
institutions and other short-term instruments with an original maturity of three months or less.  The amounts due from 
depository institutions include an interest-bearing account held at the Federal Reserve Bank where any additional cash reserve 
required on demand deposits would be maintained.  Currently, this reserve requirement is zero since the Bank's vault cash 
satisfies cash reserve requirements for deposits.

Investment Securities

When purchased, debt securities are designated as either investment securities held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or 
trading.  Securities are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost only if the Bank has a positive intent and 
ability to hold such securities to maturity.  Securities held-to-maturity are carried at cost, adjusted for the amortization of 
premiums and the accretion of discounts using the level-yield method over the remaining period until maturity.  The Bank's 
held-to-maturity portfolio consists of mortgage-backed securities that are either fully guaranteed or issued by a government 
sponsored enterprise, which has a credit rating and perceived credit risk comparable to the U.S. government.  As such, no 
allowance for credit losses was recorded on securities held-to-maturity as of March 31, 2024.

Securities are classified as available-for-sale based upon management's ability to sell in response to actual or 
anticipated changes in interest rates, resulting prepayment risk or any other factors.  Available-for-sale securities are reported at 
fair value.  Estimated fair values of securities are based on either published or security dealers' market value if available.  If 
quoted or dealer prices are not available, fair value is estimated using quoted or dealer prices for similar securities.  

The Bank conducts periodic reviews to identify and evaluate each investment that has an unrealized holding loss.  
Unrealized holding gains or losses for securities available-for-sale are excluded from earnings and reported net of deferred 
income taxes in accumulated other comprehensive loss, a component of Stockholders' Equity.  For available-for-sale securities 
in an unrealized loss position, management determines whether the Company has the intent to sell the security, or will more 
likely than not be required to sell the security before the recovery of its amortized cost basis.  If either of the criteria regarding 
intent or requirement to sell is met, the allowance for credit loss ("ACL") is written off and the amortized cost adjusted for that 
amount.  If any incremental credit loss occurs, the amortized cost is adjusted further by the credit loss and recorded in earnings.   
For AFS securities that do not meet the above criteria, management evaluates whether the decline in fair value has resulted from 
credit losses or other factors.  In making this assessment, management may consider various factors including downgrades in 
the rating of the security by rating agencies, failure of the issuer to make scheduled interest or principal payments or adverse 
conditions specifically related to the security.   If the decline in fair value is due to credit loss, the credit loss is recorded through 
ACL, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis.  Losses related to non-credit related factors 
will be recorded in other comprehensive income.  Changes in the ACL are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss 
expense.  Losses are charged against the ACL when management believes the uncollectibility of an available-for-sale security is 
confirmed, or when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met.  Gains or losses on sales of securities of 
all classifications are recognized based on the specific identification method.
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For periods prior to the Company's April 1, 2023 adoption of ASC 326, management conducted periodic reviews on at 
least a quarterly basis to evaluate securities for other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI").  The amount of OTTI when there 
were credit and non-credit losses on a debt security that the Bank did not intend to sell, and was more likely than not would not 
be required to sell prior to the recovery of the non-credit impairment, the portion of the total impairment that was attributable to 
the credit loss was recognized in earnings.  The remaining difference between the debt security's amortized cost basis and its 
fair value would be included in other comprehensive income (loss).  There were no OTTI charges recorded during the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2023.   

Securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as trading 
securities and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings. 

Loans Held-for-Sale

 Loans are only transferred to held-for-sale classification upon the determination by Carver to sell a loan.  Held-for-sale 
loans are carried at the lower of cost or fair value.  If a loan is transferred to held-for sale, any previously recorded allowance 
for credit loss is reversed into earnings and a valuation allowance would be recognized.  Subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognized in earnings as a valuation allowance.  The valuation methodology for loans held-for-sale varies based upon the 
circumstances.  Held-for-sale values may be based upon accepted offer amounts, appraised value of underlying mortgaged 
premises, prior loan loss experience of Carver in connection with recent loan sales for the loan type in question, and/or other 
acceptable valuation methods.

Loans Receivable

Loans receivable are carried at unpaid principal balances plus unamortized premiums, certain deferred direct loan 
origination costs and deferred loan origination fees and discounts, less the allowance for credit losses and charge-offs.

The Bank defers loan origination fees and certain direct loan origination costs and amortizes or accretes such amounts 
as an adjustment of yield over the contractual lives of the related loans using methodologies which approximate the interest 
method.  Premiums and discounts on loans purchased are amortized or accreted as an adjustment of yield over the contractual 
lives of the related loans, adjusted for prepayments when applicable, using methodologies which approximate the interest 
method.

Loans are placed on nonaccrual status when they are past due 90 days or more as to contractual obligations or when 
other circumstances indicate that collection is not probable.  When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, any accrued but 
uncollected interest is reversed from current interest income.  Payments received on a nonaccrual loan are either applied to 
protective advances, the outstanding principal balance or recorded as interest income, depending on an assessment of the ability 
to collect the loan.  A nonaccrual loan may be restored to accrual status when principal and interest payments have been 
brought current and the loan has performed in accordance with its contractual terms for a reasonable period (generally six 
months).

Allowance for Credit Losses ("ACL")

For periods prior to the Company's April 1, 2023 adoption of ASC 326, the Bank utilized an impairment model based 
on incurred losses in estimating the allowance for loan and lease losses ("ALLL").  Under this approach, the Bank maintained a 
general reserve allowance for homogeneous pools of loans based upon historical loss factors and applied a risk factor to each 
pool that determined the level of general reserves for that specific pool and the Bank's loss emergence period ("LEP") 
assumptions, which represented the Bank's estimate of the average amount of time from the point at which a loss is incurred to 
the point at which the loss is confirmed.  Because actual loss experience may not adequately predict the level of losses inherent 
in a portfolio, the Bank reviewed qualitative factors to determine if reserves should be adjusted based upon any of those factors.  
Carver also maintained a specific reserve allowance for criticized and classified loans individually reviewed for impairment.  
The amount assigned to the specific reserve allowance was individually determined based upon (1) the present value of 
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate, (2) the loan's observable market price, or (3) the fair 
value of the collateral if the loan was collateral dependent.  

The ALLL was replaced by the ACL upon adoption of the current expected credit loss model ("CECL") under ASC 
326.  The ACL is a valuation account that is deducted from the loan portfolio's amortized cost basis to present the net amount 
expected to be collected on the loans.  Additions to the allowance are recognized through the provision for credit losses.  Loan 
losses are charged off against the allowance when management believes a loan balance is deemed as uncollectible.  
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Management continues its collection efforts on previously charged-off balances and applies recoveries as additions to the ACL.  
The measurement of expected credit losses is based on information about past events, including historical experience, current 
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount and a reversion to 
historical after the reasonable and supportable period.  Expected credit losses were estimated using a regression model based on 
historical data from the Company and peer institutions.  Adjustments to modeled loss estimates may be made for differences in 
current loan-specific risk characteristics such as differences in underwriting standards, portfolio mix, delinquency level or term, 
as well as for changes in environmental conditions, such as changes in economic conditions, property values or other relevant 
factors.  The discounted cash flow ("DCF") methodology is used for substantially all pools, applied with a 4-quarter reasonable 
and supportable forecast period and the loss rate reverts back to the long-term historical loss average with a 12-quarter straight-
line reversion period where the ACL reflects the difference between the amortized cost and the present value of the expected 
cash flows (including prepayments and defaults).  The expected cash flows are discounted at the effective interest rate and the 
entire change in present value is reported as a provision for credit loss (or reversal of credit loss).  On a quarterly basis, 
management considers probability of default utilizing economic forecasts including civilian unemployment rates and CPI index, 
and loss given default assumptions using Frye-Jacobs estimations.  

The Company has elected to exclude accrued interest from the amortized cost basis in determining credit losses.  
Accrued interest receivable on loans is included in a separate line item on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.  
Accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when the payment of principal or interest is considered to be in doubt, or when a 
loan becomes contractually past due by 90 days or more with respect to principal or interest, except for loans that are well-
secured and in the process of collection.  When a loan is placed on nonaccrual status, any accrued but uncollected interest is 
reversed from current income.  Interest income on nonaccrual loans is recorded when received based upon the collectability of 
the loan.  

Expected credit losses are measured on a collective pool basis when similar risk characteristics exist.  Loans with 
similar risk characteristics are grouped into homogeneous segments, or pools, for allowance calculation.  The following 
discussion describes the general risks associated with the Bank's loan portfolio segments:

• One-to-four Family - Carver Federal purchases first mortgage loans secured by one-to-four family properties that serve 
as the primary residence of the owner and non-qualified mortgages for one-to-four family residential loans.  The loans 
are underwritten in accordance with applicable secondary market underwriting guidelines and requirements for sale.  
These loans present a moderate level of risk due primarily to general economic conditions.   

• Multifamily - Carver Federal originates and purchases recourse and non-recourse multifamily loans.  The Bank 
generally requires a debt service coverage ratio at origination of at least 1.30x, and that the maximum loan-to-value 
("LTV") at origination not exceed 70% based on the appraised value of the mortgaged property.  Multifamily property 
lending entails additional risks compared to one-to-four family lending.  These loans are dependent on the successful 
operation of such buildings and can be significantly impacted by economic conditions, industry concentration, 
valuation of the underlying properties, lease terms, occupancy/vacancy rates, and changes in market demand for 
multifamily units.  The Bank primarily considers the property's ability to generate net operating income sufficient to 
support the debt service, the financial resources, income level and managerial expertise of the borrower, the 
marketability of the property and the Bank's lending experience with the owner/guarantor.  

• Commercial Real Estate ("CRE") - CRE lending consists predominantly of originating loans for the purpose of 
purchasing or refinancing office, mixed-use properties, retail and church buildings in the Bank's market area.  Mixed-
use loans are secured by properties that are intended for both commercial and residential use, but predominantly 
commercial, and are classified as CRE.  The Bank primarily considers the ability of the net operating income 
generated by the real estate to support the debt service, the financial resources, income level and managerial expertise 
of the borrower, the marketability of the property and the Bank's lending experience with the owner/guarantor.  The 
maximum LTV ratio on CRE loans at origination is generally 70% based on the latest appraised fair market value of 
the mortgaged property and the Bank generally requires a debt service coverage ratio at origination of at least 1.30x.  
The Bank also requires the assignment of rents of all tenants' leases in the mortgaged property and personal guarantees 
may be obtained for additional security from these borrowers.  CRE loans generally present a higher level of risk than 
other types of loans due primarily to the effect of general economic conditions and the complexities involved in 
valuing the underlying collateral.

• Construction - Carver Federal historically originated or participated in construction loans for new construction and 
renovation of multifamily buildings, residential developments, community service facilities, churches, and affordable 
housing programs.  The loans provide for disbursement in stages as construction is completed.  Borrowers must satisfy 
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all credit requirements that apply to the Bank’s permanent mortgage loan financing for the mortgaged property.  The 
Bank has additional criteria for construction loans, including an engineer’s plan and periodic cost reviews on all 
construction budgets for loans.  Construction loans present an increased level of risk from the effect of general 
economic conditions and uncertainties surrounding construction costs.

• Business - Carver Federal originates and purchases business and SBA loans primarily to businesses located in its 
primary market area and surrounding areas.  Business loans are typically personally guaranteed by the owners and may 
also be secured by additional collateral, including real estate, equipment and inventory.  Business loans are subject to 
increased risk from the effect of general economic conditions.  SBA loans are guaranteed by the U.S. government 
based on the percentage of each individual program.

• Consumer (including Overdraft accounts) - The Consumer portfolio includes student loans to medical students 
enrolled in several medical schools throughout the United States and Caribbean, as well as unsecured consumer loans 
purchased from or originated through strategic partnerships with Bankers Healthcare Group, LLC and Upstart 
Holdings, Inc.  Consumer loans are typically unsecured and more susceptible to declining economic conditions. 

Because expected loss predictions may not adequately project the level of losses inherent in a portfolio, the Bank 
reviews a number of qualitative factors on a quarterly basis to determine if reserves should be adjusted based upon any of those 
factors.  As the risk ratings deteriorate, some of the qualitative factors tend to increase.  A number of qualitative factors are 
considered including economic forecast uncertainty, credit quality trends, valuation trends, concentration risk, quality of loan 
review, changes in personnel, impact of rising rates, external factors and other considerations.  Although the quantitative 
calculation includes a measurement of statistical economic conditions based on national averages, an additional analysis is 
performed at the qualitative level that applies specifically to  the Company's geographic area and the banking industry that 
includes reasonable and supportable forecasts.

Representation and Warranty Reserve 

During the period 2004 through 2009, the Bank originated 1-4 family residential mortgage loans and sold the loans to 
the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”).  The loans were sold to FNMA with the standard representations and 
warranties for loans sold to the Government Sponsored Entities (GSEs).  The Bank may be required to repurchase these loans in 
the event of breaches of these representations and warranties.  In the event of a repurchase, the Bank is typically required to pay 
the unpaid principal balance as well as outstanding interest and fees.  The Bank then recovers the loan or, if the loan has been 
foreclosed, the underlying collateral.  The Bank is exposed to any losses on repurchased loans after giving effect to any 
recoveries on the collateral.  

Management has established a representation and warranty reserve for losses associated with the repurchase of 
mortgage loans sold by the Bank to FNMA that we consider to be both probable and reasonably estimable.  These reserves are 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial condition as a component of other liabilities.  The calculation of the reserve 
is based on estimates, which are uncertain, and require the application of judgment.  In establishing the reserves, we consider a 
variety of factors, including those loans that are under review by FNMA that have not yet received a repurchase request.  The 
Bank tracks the FNMA claims monthly and evaluates the reserve on a quarterly basis. 

Segment Reporting

The Company has determined that all of its activities constitute one reportable operating segment.

Concentration of Risk

The Bank's principal lending activities are concentrated in loans secured by real estate, a substantial portion of which 
are located in New York City.  Accordingly, the ultimate collectability of a substantial portion of the Company's loan portfolio 
is susceptible to changes in New York's real estate market conditions.  Qualitative factors in the ACL calculation considers the 
Bank's concentration risk.

Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are comprised of land, at cost, and buildings, building improvements, furnishings and 
equipment and leasehold improvements, at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization 
charges are included in Non-Interest Expense in the consolidated statements of operations and are computed using the straight-
line method over the following estimated useful lives:
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Buildings and improvements 10 to 25 years
Furnishings and equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or remaining term of lease

Maintenance, repairs and minor improvements are charged to non-interest expense in the period incurred.

Leases

Leases are classified as operating or finance leases at the lease commencement date.  The Company includes lease 
renewal options in the lease term if it is reasonably certain the option will be exercised.  Right-of-use assets represent the 
Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make 
lease payments arising from the lease.  Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date 
based on the estimated present value of the lease payments over the lease term.  The Company uses its incremental borrowing 
rate, which is the rate for a fully collateralized and fully amortizing loan with a maturity date that is similar to the lease term, at 
lease commencement to calculate the present value of lease payments when the implicit rate in a lease is not readily 
determinable.  

Federal Home Loan Bank Stock

The FHLB-NY has assigned to the Bank a mandated membership stock purchase, based on the Bank's asset size.  In 
addition, for all borrowing activity, the Bank is required to purchase shares of FHLB-NY non-marketable capital stock at par.  
Such shares are redeemed by FHLB-NY at par with reductions in the Bank's borrowing levels.  FHLB stock does not have a 
readily determinable fair value and we do not consider these shares to be impaired at March 31, 2024 and 2023.  The Bank 
carries this investment at historical cost.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

All separately recognized servicing assets totaled $140 thousand and $152 thousand, respectively, at March 31, 2024 
and 2023, and are included in Other Assets in the consolidated statements of financial condition and measured at fair value.  
Changes in fair value are included in Non-Interest Income in the consolidated statements of operations.  Servicing fee income 
of $44 thousand and $41 thousand, respectively, was recognized during the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, and is 
included in Non-Interest Income in the consolidated statements of operations.    

Other Real Estate Owned

Real estate acquired by foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure is recorded at fair value, less estimated selling costs, 
at the date of acquisition.  Any subsequent adjustments will be to the lower of cost or fair value and included in Non-Interest 
Expense in the consolidated statements of operations.  The fair value of such assets is determined based primarily upon 
independent appraisals and other relevant factors.  The amounts ultimately recoverable from real estate owned could differ from 
the net carrying value of these properties because of economic conditions.  Costs incurred to improve properties or prepare 
them for sale are capitalized.  Revenues and expenses related to the holding and operating of properties are recognized in 
operations as earned or incurred.  Gains or losses on sale of properties are recognized as incurred and are included in Non-
Interest Expense in the consolidated statements of operations. As of March 31, 2024, the Bank held $52 thousand in a 
foreclosed residential real estate property as a result of obtaining physical possession.  In addition, as of March 31, 2024 and 
2023, we had residential loans with a carrying value of $2.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively, collateralized by residential 
real estate property for which formal foreclosure proceedings were in process. 

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Income tax expense (benefit) consists of 
income taxes currently payable (receivable) and deferred income taxes.  Temporary differences between the basis of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes are measured as of the balance sheet date.  Deferred tax liabilities or 
recognizable deferred tax assets are calculated on such differences, using current statutory rates, which result in future taxable 
or deductible amounts.  The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes 
the enactment date.  Where applicable, deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance for any portion determined 
more likely than not to be realized.  This valuation allowance would subsequently be adjusted by a charge or credit to income 
tax expense as changes in facts and circumstances warrant.  A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is "more likely 
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than not" that the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur.  The 
amount recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination.  For tax 
positions not meeting the “more likely than not” test, no tax benefit is recorded.  Any interest expense or penalties would be 
recorded as interest expense.

Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

The Company has preferred stock which are entitled to receive dividends if declared on the Company's common stock 
and are therefore considered to be participating securities.  Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) is computed using the two 
class method.  This calculation divides net income (loss) available to common stockholders after the allocation of undistributed 
earnings to the participating securities by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the 
period.  Diluted earnings per share takes into account the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to 
issue common stock were exercised and converted into common stock.  These potentially dilutive shares are then included in 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period.  Dilution calculations are not applicable to net loss periods.

Preferred and Common Dividends 

 The Company is prohibited from paying any dividends without prior regulatory approval pursuant to the terms of the 
Formal Agreement and Resolution to which it is subject, and is generally subject to regulations governing the payment of 
dividends.  There are no assurances that the payments of common stock dividends will resume.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is recorded at cost and is presented as a reduction of stockholders' equity.

Stock Compensation Plans

The Company currently has multiple stock plans in place for employees and directors of the Company.  The 
compensation cost related to share-based payment transactions is included in Employee Compensation and Benefits in the 
consolidated statements of operations.  Compensation cost for all stock awards is calculated and recognized over a defined 
vesting period.  Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.  For awards with graded-vesting, compensation cost is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the requisite vesting period for the entire award.  The Black-Scholes model is used to estimate the 
fair value of stock options, while the market price of the Company's common stock at the date of grant is used for restricted 
stock awards.

Reserve for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposure

 In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has entered into off-balance sheet financial instruments consisting of 
commitments to extend credit and letters of credit.  Such financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated statements of 
condition when they are funded.  The Company estimates a reserve for expected credit losses on loan commitments over the 
contractual period in which it is exposed to credit risk via a contractual obligation to extend credit, unless that obligation is 
unconditionally cancellable by the Company.  The Bank does not record any reserve for unconditionally cancellable unfunded 
lending commitment since the exposure may be canceled to prevent future credit loss.  Reserves for unfunded lending 
commitments that are not unconditionally cancellable are included in Other Liabilities in the consolidated statements of 
financial condition and Non-Interest Expense in the consolidated statements of operations.  Management will consider the 
likelihood that funding will occur and use the discount rate based on the associated pooled loan analysis loss rate to calculate 
the estimated expected credit losses.  The Company recorded a provision for credit loss for off-balance sheet credit exposures of 
$1 thousand for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024,  The ACL on off-balance sheet credit exposures was $9 thousand as of 
March 31, 2024.

Grant Income

Designated as a Community Development Financial Institution ("CDFI") by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the 
Bank is eligible for, and on occasion receives, assistance from the government and other financial institutions in the form of 
grants.  The Company earns these grants through compliance with their conditions and by meeting the stated obligations.  The 
Company therefore recognizes the grant income over the periods that bear the cost of meeting the obligations.  
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Advertising Costs

 The Company follows the policy of charging the costs of advertising to expense as incurred. 

Transfers of Financial Assets

 Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered.  Control 
over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from the Company, (2) the transferee 
obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred 
assets, and (3) the Company does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase 
them before their maturity.  If the criteria for sales accounting is not met, the Company will continue to recognize the financial 
asset and recognize an associated secured borrowing.  

Recent Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Recently Adopted

On April 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASC 326, which replaces the guidance on recognition and measurement of 
credit losses for financial assets.  The new requirements, known as the current expected credit loss model ("CECL") will require 
entities to adopt an impairment model based on expected losses rather than incurred losses.  Under the CECL model, the 
allowance for credit losses ("ACL") is a valuation allowance tat is deducted from the amortized cost basis of certain financial 
assets, including loans, held-to-maturity securities, and other receivables, to present the net carrying value at the amount 
expected to be collected.  The measurement of expected credit losses is based on information about past events, including 
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported 
amount.  This differs from the incurred loss model, which delays recognition of credit losses until it is probable a loss has been 
incurred.  The Company applied the new guidance with a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of April 1, 2023, 
using the modified-retrospective approach.  Results for reporting periods beginning after April 1, 2023 are presented under 
CECL.  Prior period amounts have not been restated and are reported in accordance with the incurred loss method.  The 
adoption of ASC 326 resulted in an increase of $0.7 million to the allowance for credit losses related to loans and to the opening 
balance of accumulated deficit for the year ended March 31, 2024.  There was no material impact for other assets within the 
scope of the new CECL guidance, such as held-to-maturity debt securities and other receivables. 

On April 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASU No. 2022-02, "Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (ASC 326): 
Troubled Debt Restructurings (TDRs) and Vintage Disclosures," which eliminates the accounting guidance for TDRs, and 
replaced it with guidance and disclosure requirements for certain loan refinancing and restructuring activities to borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulty.  The amendments also require disclosure of current period gross writeoffs by year of 
origination.  The adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated statements of financial 
condition and results of operations.

On April 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASU No. 2021-10 "Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by 
Business Entities about Government Assistance," which was issued to improve the financial reporting of government assistance 
received by business entities by requiring the disclosure of (1) the types of assistance received, (2) an entity’s accounting for the 
assistance, and (3) the effect of the assistance on an entity’s financial statements.  The adoption of the standard did not have a 
material impact on the Company's consolidated statements of financial condition and results of operations.  

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures" to enhance income tax disclosures to help investors better assess how a company's operations and related tax risks 
and tax planning and operational opportunities affect its tax rate and prospects for future cash flows.  The amendments in this 
update will require further disaggregated information about a reporting entity's effective tax rate reconciliation and information 
on income taxes paid.  ASU No. 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 (for the Company, the 
fiscal year ending March 31, 2026), and interim periods within those fiscal years.  Early adoption is permitted.  The 
amendments in this update should be applied on a prospective basis with an option for retrospective application.  ASU 2023-09 
is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07 "Segment Report (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures" to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about 
significant segment expenses.  ASU No. 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023 (for the 
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Company, the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025), and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024.  
Early adoption is permitted.  The amendments in this update should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in 
the financial statements.  Upon transition, the segment expense categories and amounts disclosed in the prior periods should be 
based on the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption.  The Company does not 
expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on the Company's financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04 "Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of 
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting," which provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to 
loan and lease agreements, derivative contracts, and other transactions affected by the anticipated transition away from LIBOR 
toward new interest rate benchmarks.  For transactions that are modified because of reference rate reform and that meet certain 
scope guidance (i) modifications of loan agreements should be accounted for by prospectively adjusting the effective interest 
rate and the modification will be considered "minor" so that any existing unamortized origination fees/costs would carry 
forward and continue to be amortized and (ii) modifications of lease agreements should be accounted for as a continuation of 
the existing agreement with no reassessments of the lease classification and the discount rate or remeasurements of lease 
payments that otherwise would be required for modifications not accounted for as separate contracts.  ASU 2020-04 is effective 
March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022.  An entity may elect to apply ASU 2020-04 for contract modifications as of any 
date from the beginning of an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, or prospectively from a date 
within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, up to the date that the financial statements are 
available to be issued.  Once elected for a Topic or an Industry Subtopic, the amendments in this ASU must be applied 
prospectively for all eligible contract modifications for that Topic or Industry Subtopic.  In December 2022, the FASB issued 
ASU No. 2022-06 "Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848," which defers the sunset 
date of Topic 848 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024, after which entities will no longer be permitted to apply for 
relief in Topic 848.  We anticipate this ASU will simplify any modifications we execute between the selected start date (yet to 
be determined) and December 31, 2024 that are directly related to LIBOR transition by allowing prospective recognition of the 
continuation of the contract, rather than extinguishment of the old contract resulting in writing off unamortized fees/costs.  The 
amended guidance under Topic 848 and our ability to elect its optional expedients and exceptions are effective for us through 
December 31, 2024.  The Company has adopted the LIBOR transition relief allowed under this standard.  

NOTE 3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Generally, the investment policy of the Bank is to invest funds among categories of investments and maturities based 
upon the Bank’s asset/liability management policies, investment quality, loan and deposit volume and collateral requirements, 
liquidity needs and performance objectives.  Debt securities are classified into three categories: trading, held-to-maturity, and 
available-for-sale.  At March 31, 2024, securities with fair value of $48.0 million, or 96.0%, of the Bank’s total securities were 
classified as available-for-sale, and the remaining securities with amortized cost of $2.0 million, or 4.0%, were classified as 
held-to-maturity, compared to $53.8 million and $2.3 million at March 31, 2023, respectively.  The Bank had no securities 
classified as trading at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

Other investments as of March 31, 2024 primarily consists of the Company and Bank's investments in limited 
partnership Community Capital Funds and a $5.3 million bank-owned life insurance policy ("BOLI") that was purchased during 
the first quarter of fiscal year 2023 as a channel to add to the Company's non-interest income revenue by means of an 
investment considered safe and sound by the Company's regulators.  The investments in the limited partnerships are measured 
using the equity method.  The BOLI is carried at the cash surrender value of the underlying policies.  Income generated from 
the investments and the increase in the cash surrender value of the BOLI is included in other non-interest income on the 
Statements of Operations.  Other investments totaled $6.9 million at March 31, 2024 and are included in Other Assets on the 
Statements of Financial Condition.
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The following tables set forth the amortized cost and fair value of securities available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at 
March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023:

At March 31, 2024
Amortized Gross Unrealized

$ in thousands Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Available-for-Sale:
Mortgage-backed securities:

Government National Mortgage Association $ 280 $ 4 $ (1) $ 283 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation  20,299  —  (4,501)  15,798 
Federal National Mortgage Association  10,975  —  (2,339)  8,636 

Total mortgage-backed securities  31,554  4  (6,841)  24,717 
U.S. Government Agency Securities  6,219  —  (25)  6,194 
Corporate Bonds  5,266  —  (2,203)  3,063 
Muni Securities  17,696  —  (3,640)  14,056 

Total available-for-sale $ 60,735 $ 4 $ (12,709) $ 48,030 

Held-to-Maturity:
Mortgage-backed securities:

Government National Mortgage Association $ 292 $ — $ (9) $ 283 
Federal National Mortgage Association  1,716  —  (94)  1,622 
Total held-to-maturity $ 2,008 $ — $ (103) $ 1,905 

At March 31, 2023
Amortized Gross Unrealized

$ in thousands Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Available-for-Sale:
Mortgage-backed securities:
  Government National Mortgage Association $ 341 $ 1 $ (1) $ 341 
  Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation  21,651  —  (4,051)  17,600 
  Federal National Mortgage Association  11,714  —  (2,212)  9,502 

    Total mortgage-backed securities  33,706  1  (6,264)  27,443 
U.S. Government Agency Securities  9,364  —  (38)  9,326 
Corporate Bonds  5,269  —  (2,177)  3,092 
Muni Securities  17,719  —  (3,737)  13,982 
    Total available-for-sale $ 66,058 $ 1 $ (12,216) $ 53,843 

Held-to-Maturity:
Mortgage-backed securities:
  Government National Mortgage Association $ 366 $ — $ (3) $ 363 
  Federal National Mortgage Association  1,952  —  (94)  1,858 

Total held-to-maturity $ 2,318 $ — $ (97) $ 2,221 

There were no sales of available-for-sale securities and held-to-maturity securities for the year ended March 31, 2024 
and March 31, 2023.  

Carver maintains a portfolio of mortgage-backed securities in the form of Government National Mortgage Association 
(“GNMA”) pass-through certificates, Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) mortgage-backed securities and 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”) mortgage-backed securities.  GNMA pass-through certificates are 
guaranteed as to the payment of principal and interest by the full faith and credit of the United States Government, while 
FNMA and FHLMC securities are each guaranteed by their respective agencies as to principal and interest.  Based on the high 
quality of the Bank's investment portfolio, current market conditions have not significantly impacted the pricing of the portfolio 
or the Bank's ability to obtain reliable prices. 

At March 31, 2024, the Bank pledged mortgage-backed securities of $0.3 million and $2.2 million as collateral for 
public funds deposits and advances from the FHLB-NY, respectively.
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The following tables set forth the unrealized losses and fair value of securities in an unrealized loss position at 
March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 for less than 12 months and 12 months or longer:

At March 31, 2024
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

$ in thousands
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Available-for-Sale:
Mortgage-backed securities $ — $ — $ (6,841) $ 24,468 $ (6,841) $ 24,468 
U.S. Government Agency Securities  (2)  1,273  (23)  4,921  (25)  6,194 
Corporate bonds  —  —  (2,203)  3,063  (2,203)  3,063 
Muni securities  —  —  (3,640)  14,056  (3,640)  14,056 
  Total available-for-sale securities $ (2) $ 1,273 $ (12,707) $ 46,508 $ (12,709) $ 47,781 
Held-to-Maturity:
Mortgage-backed securities $ — $ — $ (103) $ 1,872 $ (103) $ 1,872 

Total held-to-maturity securities $ — $ — $ (103) $ 1,872 $ (103) $ 1,872 

At March 31, 2023
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

$ in thousands
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value
Available-for-Sale:
Mortgage-backed securities $ — $ — $ (6,264) $ 27,146 $ (6,264) $ 27,146 
U.S. Government Agency Securities  (13)  4,075  (25)  5,251  (38)  9,326 
Corporate bonds  —  —  (2,177)  3,092  (2,177)  3,092 
Muni securities  —  —  (3,737)  13,982  (3,737)  13,982 
  Total available-for-sale securities $ (13) $ 4,075 $ (12,203) $ 49,471 $ (12,216) $ 53,546 
Held-to-Maturity:
Mortgage-backed securities $ (3) $ 363 $ (94) $ 1,822 $ (97) $ 2,185 

Total held-to-maturity securities $ (3) $ 363 $ (94) $ 1,822 $ (97) $ 2,185 

A total of 24 securities had an unrealized loss at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.  Mortgage-backed securities, 
U.S. government agency securities, municipal securities and a corporate bond security represented 51.2%, 13.0%, 29.4% and 
6.4%, respectively, of total available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position at March 31, 2024.  There were eight
mortgage-backed securities, two U.S. government agency securities, one corporate bond and six municipal securities that had 
an unrealized loss position for more than 12 months at March 31, 2024.  Management has evaluated available-for-sale securities 
that are in an unrealized loss position and determined that the declines in fair value are attributable to market volatility, and not 
credit quality or other factors.  Given the high credit quality of the mortgage-backed securities which are backed by explicit 
U.S. government guarantees, or guarantees by government sponsored enterprises that have credit ratings and perceived credit 
risk comparable to the U.S. government, the high credit quality and strong financial performance of the U.S. government 
agency and the results of the individual analyses performed for and continuous surveillance on the municipal securities, as well 
as the corporate security that is a reputable institution in good financial standing, the risk of credit loss is minimal.  
Management believes that these unrealized losses are a direct result of the current rate environment and the Company has the 
ability and intent to hold the securities until maturity or the valuations recover.  The Bank's held-to-maturity portfolio consists 
of mortgage-backed securities that are either fully guaranteed or issued by a government sponsored enterprise, which has a 
credit rating and perceived credit risk comparable to the U.S. government.  As such, no allowance for credit losses on securities 
available-for-sale or held-to-maturity have been established as of March 31, 2024.

The following is a summary of the amortized cost and fair value of debt securities at March 31, 2024, by remaining 
period to contractual maturity (ignoring earlier call dates, if any).  Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities 
because certain security issuers have the right to call or prepay their obligations.  The table below does not consider the effects 
of possible prepayments or unscheduled repayments. 
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$ in thousands Amortized Cost Fair Value
Weighted 

Average Yield
Available-for-Sale:
One through five years 1,850  1,838  6.50 %
Five through ten years 4,684  3,961  2.44 %
After ten years  22,647  17,514  3.37 %
Mortgage-backed securities  31,554  24,717  1.67 %

$ 60,735 $ 48,030  2.54 %
Held-to-maturity:
Mortgage-backed securities $ 2,008 $ 1,905  2.82 %

NOTE 4. LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The following is a summary of loans receivable, net of allowance for credit losses at March 31:
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

$ in thousands Amount % Amount %
One-to-four family $ 82,787  13.3 % $ 65,808  11.0 %
Multifamily  177,203  28.4 %  179,117  30.0 %
Commercial real estate  175,384  28.2 %  178,424  29.8 %
Construction  2,203  0.4 %  —  — %
Business (1)  169,602  27.2 %  166,908  27.9 %
Consumer (2)  15,699  2.5 %  7,639  1.3 %
Total loans receivable  622,878  100.0 %  597,896  100.0 %

Allowance for credit losses  (5,871)  (5,229) 
Total loans receivable, net $ 617,007 $ 592,667 

(1) Includes business overdrafts of $73 thousand and $11 thousand as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively
(2) Includes consumer overdrafts of $15 thousand and $19 thousand as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively

The totals above are shown net of deferred loan fees and costs.  Net deferred loan fees totaled $2.9 million and $2.8 
million at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  During fiscal year 2024, the Bank purchased $31.5 million loans at par, 
comprised of $20.0 million one-to-four family, $0.2 million business and $11.3 million consumer loans.  The Bank purchased 
$14.3 million loans at par during fiscal year 2023, comprised of $4.0 million one-to-four family, $5.8 million commercial real 
estate, $0.6 million business and $3.9 million consumer loans.  

Substantially all of the Bank's real estate loans receivable are principally secured by properties located in New York 
City.  Accordingly, as with most financial institutions in the market area, the ultimate collectability of a substantial portion of 
the Company's loan portfolio is susceptible to changes in market conditions in this area.  

Real estate mortgage loan portfolios (one-to-four family) serviced for Federal National Mortgage Association 
(“FNMA”) and other third parties are not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  The unpaid 
principal balances of these loans aggregated $11.6 million and $12.6 million at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

At March 31, 2024 the Bank pledged $48.0 million in total real estate mortgage loans as collateral for advances from 
the FHLB-NY.

The Bank participated as a lender in the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP"), which opened on April 3, 2020.  As 
part of the CARES Act, the Small Business Administration ("SBA") was authorized to temporarily guarantee loans under this 
new 7(a) loan program.  Under the PPP, small businesses and other entities and individuals could apply for loans from existing 
SBA lenders and other approved regulated lenders that enroll in the program, subject to numerous limitations and eligibility 
criteria.  Since the PPP loans are fully guaranteed by the SBA, there are no additional ACL reserves required.  As of March 31, 
2024, the Bank had approved and funded approximately 420 applications totaling $57.1 million of loans under the PPP.  
Business loans included PPP loans outstanding totaling $268 thousand as of March 31, 2024.  The net loan origination fees on 
these loans totaled approximately $3 thousand and are being recognized into interest income on loans over the 2-year and 5-
year stated maturity terms of the PPP loans using the straight-line deferral method.  The Bank continues to receive debt 
forgiveness payments on PPP loans closed during the first and second rounds of the program.  As the loans are paid off, the 
remaining net deferred origination fees are accelerated into income.  

71



The following is an analysis of the allowance for credit losses based upon the method of evaluating loan reserves for 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 under the expected loss methodology:

$ in thousands

One-to-
four 

family Multifamily
Commercial 
Real Estate Construction Business Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for credit losses:
Beginning Balance $ 716 $ 1,109 $ 1,814 $ — $ 1,139 $ 449 $ 2 $ 5,229 

Impact of CECL adoption  1,220  (392)  (497)  505  (166)  (2)  668 
Charge-offs  —  —  —  —  (10)  (160)  —  (170) 
Recoveries  —  —  —  —  55  6  —  61 
Provision for (Recovery of) 
Credit Losses  69  3  (95)  1  (274)  321  58  83 

Ending Balance $ 2,005 $ 720 $ 1,222 $ 1 $ 1,415 $ 450 $ 58 $ 5,871 

Allowance for Credit Losses 
Ending Balance: collectively 
evaluated for impairment $ 2,005 $ 720 $ 1,222  1 $ 1,408 $ 449 $ 58 $ 5,863 
Allowance for Credit Losses 
Ending Balance: individually 
evaluated for impairment  —  —  — —  7  1  —  8 

Loan Receivables Ending 
Balance $ 82,787 $ 177,203 $ 175,384 $ 2,203 $ 169,602 $ 15,699 $ — $ 622,878 
Ending Balance: collectively 
evaluated for impairment  78,636  174,718  170,862  2,203  156,340  15,654  —  598,413 
Ending Balance: individually 
evaluated for impairment  4,151  2,485  4,522 —  13,262  45  —  24,465 

 The following is an analysis of the allowance for loan losses as of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 based upon the 
incurred loss impairment model:

$ in thousands
One-to-four 

family Multifamily 
Commercial 
Real Estate Business Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for loan losses:
Beginning Balance $ 731 $ 1,114 $ 1,157 $ 2,497 $ 123 $ 2 $ 5,624 

Charge-offs  —  —  (586)  —  (141)  —  (727) 
Recoveries  90  —  10  127  5  —  232 
Provision for (Recovery of) 
Loan Losses  (105)  (5)  1,233  (1,485)  462  —  100 

Ending Balance $ 716 $ 1,109 $ 1,814 $ 1,139 $ 449 $ 2 $ 5,229 

Allowance for Loan Losses 
Ending Balance: collectively 
evaluated for impairment $ 607 $ 1,109 $ 1,814 $ 937 $ 449 $ 2 $ 4,918 
Allowance for Loan Losses 
Ending Balance: individually 
evaluated for impairment  109  —  —  202  —  —  311 

Loan Receivables Ending 
Balance $ 65,808 $ 179,117 $ 178,424 $ 166,908 $ 7,639 $ — $ 597,896 
Ending Balance: collectively 
evaluated for impairment  60,805  179,046  171,234  160,985  7,638  —  579,708 
Ending Balance: individually 
evaluated for impairment  5,003  71  7,190  5,923  1  —  18,188 
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The following is a summary of nonaccrual loans, at amortized cost, at March 31, 2024 and 2023.
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

$ in thousands
Nonaccrual Loans 
with No Allowance

Nonaccrual Loans 
with an Allowance

Total 
Nonaccrual 

Loans
Nonaccrual Loans

Gross loans receivable:
One-to-four family $ — $ 3,554 $ 3,554 $ 4,001 
Multifamily —  2,238  2,238  71 
Commercial real estate  —  4,522  4,522  7,190 
Business 100  1,317  1,417  998 
Consumer 44  —  44  1 

Total nonaccrual loans $ 144 $ 11,631 $ 11,775 $ 12,261 

Nonaccrual loans generally consist of loans for which the accrual of interest has been discontinued as a result of such 
loans becoming 90 days or more delinquent as to principal and/or interest payments.  Accrual of interest on loans is 
discontinued when the payment of principal or interest is considered to be in doubt, or when a loan becomes contractually past 
due by 90 days or more with respect to principal or interest, except for loans that are well-secured and in the process of 
collection.  Interest income on nonaccrual loans is recorded when received based upon the collectability of the loan.  There was 
no interest income recognized on nonaccrual loans during the twelve months ended March 31, 2024.

At March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, other non-performing assets totaled $52 thousand and $60 thousand, 
respectively, which consisted of other real estate owned comprised of one foreclosed residential property.  Other real estate 
owned is included in other assets in the consolidated statements of financial condition.  There were no held-for-sale loans at 
March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

The Bank utilizes an internal loan classification system as a means of reporting problem loans within its loan 
categories:

Pass - Loans have demonstrated satisfactory asset quality, earning history, liquidity, and other adequate margins of 
creditor protection.  These loans represent a moderate credit risk and some degree of financial stability, and are 
considered collectible in full.  

Special Mention - Loans have potential weaknesses that deserve management's close attention.  If uncorrected, these 
potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in the Bank's credit 
position at some future date.  

Substandard - Loans are inadequately protected by the current sound net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of 
the collateral pledged, if any.  These loans have a well-defined weakness, or weaknesses, that jeopardize the 
liquidation of the debt.  They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the 
deficiencies are not corrected. 

Doubtful - Loans have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as Substandard, with the added characteristic that 
collection or liquidation in full, based on current facts, conditions and values, is highly questionable and improbable.  

Loss - Loans are considered uncollectible with insignificant value and are charged off immediately to the allowance 
for credit losses.

One-to-four family residential loans and consumer loans are rated non-performing if they are delinquent in payments ninety or 
more days, or past maturity. All other one-to-four family residential loans and consumer loans are performing loans.
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The following table presents the amortized cost of loans by year of origination and risk category by class of loans 
based on the most recent analysis performed in the current quarter as of March 31, 2024:

$ in thousands 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2019 and 

earlier
Revolving 

Loans Total
Credit Risk Profile by Internally Assigned Grade:

Multifamily
Pass $ 980 $ 6,587 $ 53,516 $ 50,778 $ 28,483 $ 34,374 $ — $ 174,718 
Special Mention  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Substandard  —  —  —  1,451  754  280  —  2,485 
Doubtful  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total  980  6,587  53,516  52,229  29,237  34,654  —  177,203 

Commercial Real Estate
Pass $ 2,450 $ 29,064 $ 31,313 $ 27,635 $ 16,951 $ 62,775 $ —  170,188 
Special Mention  —  —  —  —  —  674  —  674 
Substandard  —  —  —  —  —  4,522  —  4,522 
Doubtful  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total  2,450  29,064  31,313  27,635  16,951  67,971  —  175,384 

Construction
Pass $ — $ 2,203 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —  2,203 
Special Mention  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Substandard  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Doubtful  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total  —  2,203  —  —  —  —  —  2,203 

Business
Pass $ 7,050 $ 21,315 $ 32,675 $ 52,839 $ 10,845 $ 32,587 $ —  157,311 
Special Mention  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Substandard  —  —  7,939  3,987  —  365  —  12,291 
Doubtful  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Total  7,050  21,315  40,614  56,826  10,845  32,952  —  169,602 
Gross charge-offs  —  —  —  —  —  10  —  10 

Credit Risk Profile Based on Payment 
Activity:One-to-four Family

Performing $ — $ 22,247 $ 3,830 $ 13,422 $ 1,424 $ 39,002 $ —  79,925 
Non-Performing  —  —  —  —  —  2,862  —  2,862 

Total  —  22,247  3,830  13,422  1,424  41,864  —  82,787 

Consumer
Performing $ 2,003 $ — $ 11,891 $ — $ 570 $ — $ 4 $ 16 $ 1,172 $ —  15,656 
Non-Performing  —  42  1  —  —  —  —  43 

Total  2,003  11,933  571  4  16  1,172  —  15,699 
Gross charge-offs  —  18  1  —  —  141  —  160 

Total Loans (excluding gross 
charge-offs) $ 12,483 $ 93,349 $ 129,844 $ 150,116 $ 58,473 $ 178,613 $ — $ 622,878 
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At March 31, 2023, the risk category by class of loans was as follows:

$ in thousands Multifamily
Commercial 
Real Estate Business

Credit Risk Profile by Internally Assigned Grade:

Pass $ 175,981 $ 170,534 $ 154,056 
Special Mention 771  701  5,719 
Substandard 2,365  7,189  7,133 

Total $ 179,117 $ 178,424 $ 166,908 

One-to-four family Consumer
Credit Risk Profile Based on Payment Activity:

Performing $ 60,629 $ 7,639 
Non-Performing 5,179  — 

Total $ 65,808 $ 7,639 

Loans are considered past due if required principal and interest payments have not been received as of the date such 
payments were contractually due.  The following tables present an aging analysis of the amortized cost of past due loans 
receivable at March 31, 2024 and 2023. 
March 31, 2024

$ in thousands
30-59 Days 
Past Due

60-89 Days 
Past Due

90 or More 
Days Past Due

Total Past 
Due Current

Total Loans 
Receivable

One-to-four family $ 164 $ — $ 2,859 $ 3,023 $ 79,764 $ 82,787 
Multifamily  —  —  2,205  2,205  174,998  177,203 
Commercial real estate  —  —  4,660  4,660  170,724  175,384 
Construction  —  —  —  —  2,203  2,203 
Business  1,959  214  12,071  14,244  155,358  169,602 
Consumer  151  54  —  205  15,494  15,699 
Total $ 2,274 $ 268 $ 21,795 $ 24,337 $ 598,541 $ 622,878 

March 31, 2023

$ in thousands
30-59 Days 
Past Due

60-89 Days 
Past Due

90 or More 
Days Past Due

Total Past 
Due Current

Total Loans 
Receivable

One-to-four family $ 1,207 $ 185 $ 2,475 $ 3,867 $ 61,941 $ 65,808 
Multifamily  1,458  —  71  1,529  177,588  179,117 
Commercial real estate  1,370  —  —  1,370  177,054  178,424 
Business  11,006  —  5,014  16,020  150,888  166,908 
Consumer  99  26  34  159  7,480  7,639 
Total $ 15,140 $ 211 $ 7,594 $ 22,945 $ 574,951 $ 597,896 

 At March 31, 2023, there were no loans 90 or more days past due and accruing interest.
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Collateral dependent loans are loans for which the repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the 
operation or sale of the underlying collateral and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty.  All substandard and doubtful 
loans and any other loans that the Chief Credit Officer deems appropriate for review, are identified and reviewed for individual 
analysis.  The following table presents the amortized cost of collateral dependent loans with the associated allowance amount, if 
applicable, as of March 31, 2024:

Collateral Type

$ in thousands Real Estate Other Allowance Allocated
One-to-four family $ 4,151 $ — $ — 
Multifamily 2,485  —  — 
Commercial real estate 4,522  —  — 
Business  12,196  1,066  7 
Consumer —  45  1 

$ 23,354 $ 1,111 $ 8 

Real estate collateral includes one-to-four family, multifamily and commercial properties.  Collateral types securing 
business loans include accounts receivable.  There have been no significant changes to the types of collateral securing the 
Bank's collateral dependent loans.  

The following table presents information on impaired loans with the associated allowance amount and interest income 
recognized on a cash basis, if applicable, at March 31, 2023.  

Impaired Loans by Class
At March 31, 2023

$ in thousands
Recorded 

Investment

Unpaid 
Principal 
Balance

Associated 
Allowance

Average 
Balance

Interest 
Income 

Recognized
With no specific allowance recorded:

One-to-four family $ 3,972 $ 4,567 $ — $ 3,861 $ 111 
Multifamily  71  71  —  220  — 
Commercial real estate  7,190  7,378  —  4,054  36 
Business  1,114  1,146  —  1,723  — 
Consumer  1  1  —  —  — 

With an allowance recorded:
One-to-four family  1,031  1,031  109  554  41 
Business  4,809  4,820  202  5,116  316 

Total $ 18,188 $ 19,014 $ 311 $ 15,528 $ 504 

In certain circumstances, the Bank  will modify the terms of a loan by granting a concession.  Situations around these 
modifications may include extension of maturity date, reduction in the stated interest rate, rescheduling of future cash flows, 
reduction in the face amount of the debt or reduction of past accrued interest.  Loans modified are placed on nonaccrual status 
until the Company determines that future collection of principal and interest is reasonably assured, which generally requires that 
the borrower demonstrate performance according to the restructured terms for a period of at least six months. There were no 
loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty made during the twelve months ended March 31, 2024.  There 
were three one-to-four family loans totaling $1.4 million modified during the twelve months ended March 31, 2023.  At    
March 31, 2024, loans modified to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty totaled $6.8 million, $1.1 million of which were 
non-performing as they were either not consistently performing in accordance with their modified terms or not performing in 
accordance with their modified terms for at least six months.  There were three modified loans totaling $5.7 million that were 
on accrual status as the Company has determined that future collection of the principal and interest is reasonably assured.  
These have generally performed according to the restructured terms for a period of at least six months.   At March 31, 2023, 
total TDR loans were $7.6 million, of which $1.6 million were non-performing.   

 In an effort to proactively resolve delinquent loans, Carver had selectively extended to certain borrowers concessions 
such as extensions, rate reductions or forbearance agreements during the twelve months ended March 31, 2023.  For the fiscal 
years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no modified loans that defaulted within 12 months of modification.  
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Transactions With Certain Related Persons 

 Federal law requires that all loans or extensions of credit to executive officers and directors must be made on 
substantially the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions 
with the general public and must not involve more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavorable features.  
Furthermore, loans above the greater of $25,000, or 5% of Carver Federal’s capital and surplus (up to $500,000), to Carver 
Federal’s directors and executive officers must be approved in advance by a majority of the disinterested members of Carver 
Federal’s Board of Directors.  There were no loans outstanding to related parties at March 31, 2024.

NOTE 5. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET

The details of premises and equipment as of March 31 are as follows:
$ in thousands 2024 2023
Leasehold improvements $ 7,175 $ 6,986 
Furniture, equipment, and other  15,022  14,850 

 22,197  21,836 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  (19,630)  (18,662) 
Premises and equipment, net $ 2,567 $ 3,174 

Depreciation and amortization charged to operations was $1.0 million and $1.1 million for fiscal years 2024 and 2023, 
respectively.

NOTE 6. LEASES

The Company applies Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 842, Leases ("ASC 842") to its leases.  The 
Company has operating leases related to its administrative offices, seven retail branches and three ATM centers. Two of the 
operating leases are for branch locations where the Company had entered into a sale and leaseback transaction.  The gain had 
been calculated utilizing the profit on sale in excess of the present value of the minimum lease payments, and the profit on the 
sale was deferred from gain recognition to be amortized into income over the terms of the leases in accordance with ASC Topic 
840, Leases ("ASC 840").  ASC 842 does not require previous sale and leaseback transactions accounted for under ASC 840 to 
be reassessed.    

 As the implicit rates of the Company's existing leases are not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing rate 
used in determining the lease liability obligation for each individual lease was the FHLB-NY fixed-rate advance rates based on 
the remaining lease terms as of April 1, 2019.  

 As of March 31, 2024, the Company had $103 thousand and $106 thousand of ROU asset and lease liability, 
respectively, for finance leases related to equipment.  The ROU asset is included in Premises and Equipment, net, and the lease 
liability is included in Advances from the FHLB-NY and Other Borrowed Money on the statements of financial condition.

The following tables present information about the Company's leases and the related lease costs as of and for the year 
ended March 31, 2024:

March 31, 2024

Weighted-average remaining lease term

Operating leases 4.3 years

Finance lease 2.6 years

Weighted-average discount rate

Operating leases  3.05 %

Finance lease  4.32 %
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$ in thousands March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

Operating lease expense $ 2,774 $ 2,860 

Finance lease cost

Amortization of right-of use asset 94 84

Interest on lease liability 6 5

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities

Operating leases 2,833  2,779 

Finance lease 95  96 

Maturities of lease liabilities at March 31, 2024 are as follows:

$ in thousands Operating Leases Finance Leases

Year ending March 31,

2025 $ 2,705 $ 63 

2026 2,687  42 

2027 2,440  5 

2028 2,259  — 

2029 1,090  — 

Thereafter 186  — 

Total lease payments 11,367  110 

Interest (751)  (4) 

Lease liability $ 10,616 $ 106 

NOTE 7. ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE

The details of accrued interest receivable as of March 31 are as follows:

$ in thousands 2024 2023
Loans receivable $ 3,410 $ 1,629 
Mortgage-backed securities  56  60 
Investments and other interest-bearing assets  196  222 
Total accrued interest receivable $ 3,662 $ 1,911 

NOTE 8. DEPOSITS

Deposit balances and weighted average interest rates as of March 31 are as follows:
2024 2023

$ in thousands Amount

Percent of 
Total 

Deposits

Weighted 
Average 

Rate Amount

Percent of 
Total 

Deposits

Weighted 
Average 

Rate
Non-interest-bearing demand $ 102,013  15.77 %  — % $ 109,401  18.22 %  — %
Interest-bearing checking  46,358  7.17  0.58  49,473  8.24  0.10 
Savings  113,187  17.49  0.28  109,210  18.19  0.15 
Money market savings account  159,105  24.59  1.34  150,348  25.04  0.93 
Certificates of deposit  223,719  34.58  3.22  178,694  29.76  1.26 
Loan escrow deposits  2,617  0.40  0.30  3,303  0.55  0.11 

Total $ 646,999  100.00 %  1.54 % $ 600,429  100.00 %  0.64 %
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Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit for the year ended March 31, 2024 are as follows:
$ in thousands Amount
Maturing years ending March 31:
2025 $ 197,588 
2026  20,106 
2027 2,145 
2028 1,720 
2029 2,160 
2030 and beyond — 
   Total $ 223,719 

The following table represents the amount of certificates of deposit of $250,000 or more at March 31, 2024 maturing 
during the periods indicated:
$ in thousands
Maturing:
April 1, 2024 to June 30, 2024 $ 62,718 
July 1, 2024 to September 30, 2024  2,129 
October 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025  9,484 
April 1, 2025 and beyond  5,126 
Total $ 79,457 

Interest expense on deposits is as follows for the years ended March 31:
$ in thousands 2024 2023
Interest-bearing checking $ 289 $ 55 
Savings and clubs  310  166 
Money market savings  2,102  1,728 
Certificates of deposit  6,370  1,756 
Loan escrow deposits 8  3 
    Total interest expense $ 9,079 $ 3,708 

The following table presents additional information about our year-end deposits:  

$ in thousands 2024 2023

Deposits from the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service (CDARS) $ 76,650 $ 84,389 

Deposits from brokers  60,041  17,638 

Certificates of deposit individually greater than $250,000  19,458  25,765 

Deposits from certain directors, executive officers and their affiliates 1,033  4,885 

NOTE 9. ADVANCES FROM THE FHLB-NY AND OTHER BORROWED MONEY

Federal Home Loan Bank Advances.  At March 31, 2024, the Bank had $28.0 million outstanding advances from the 
FHLB-NY.  During fiscal year 2024, the Bank secured a $3.0 million 18-month advance from the new FHLB-NY 0% 
Development Advance (ZDA) Program.  As a member of the FHLB-NY, the Bank may have outstanding FHLB-NY 
borrowings in a combination of term advances and overnight funds of up to 30% of its total assets, or approximately $227.0 
million at March 31, 2024.  Borrowings are secured by the Bank's investment in FHLB-NY stock and by a blanket security 
agreement.  This agreement requires the Bank to maintain as collateral certain qualifying assets (principally mortgage loans and 
securities) not otherwise pledged.  At March 31, 2024, advances were all fixed-rate and secured by pledges of the Bank's 
investment in FHLB-NY capital stock totaling $2.0 million, and a blanket assignment of pledged qualifying mortgage loans of 
$48.0 million and mortgage-backed and investment securities with a market value of $2.2 million.  The Bank has sufficient 
collateral at the FHLB-NY to be able to borrow $7.8 million from the FHLB-NY at March 31, 2024.  The accrued interest 
payable on FHLB advances was $109 thousand and interest expense was $1.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2024.  
FHLB-NY advances weighted average interest rates by remaining period to maturity are as follows:    
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2024 2023

$ in thousands Amount
Weighted 

Average Rate Amount
Weighted 

Average Rate

Maturing Year Ending March 31,

2024 $ —  — % $ 10,000  4.99 %

2025  28,027  4.61 %  25,000  4.50 %

$ 28,027 $ 35,000 

Subordinated Debt Securities.  On September 17, 2003, Carver Statutory Trust I issued 13,000 shares, liquidation 
amount $1,000 per share, of floating rate capital securities.  Gross proceeds from the sale of these trust preferred debt securities 
of $13 million, and proceeds from the sale of the trust's common securities of $0.4 million, were used to purchase 
approximately $13.4 million aggregate principal amount of the Company's floating rate junior subordinated debt securities due 
2033.  The trust preferred debt securities are redeemable at par quarterly at the option of the Company beginning on or after 
September 17, 2008, and have a mandatory redemption date of September 17, 2033.  Cash distributions on the trust preferred 
debt securities are cumulative and payable at a floating rate per annum resetting quarterly with a margin of 3.05% over the 
three-month LIBOR.  During the second quarter of fiscal year 2017, the Company applied for and was granted regulatory 
approval to settle all outstanding debenture interest payments through September 2016.  Such payments totaling $2.5 million
were made in September 2016.   Interest on the debentures had been deferred beginning with the December 2016 payment, per 
the terms of the agreement, which permit such deferral for up to twenty consecutive quarters, as the Company is prohibited 
from making payments without prior regulatory approval.  During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2021, the Company applied 
for and was granted regulatory approval to settle all outstanding debenture interest payments through June 2021.  Full payment 
was made on June 16, 2021.  The Company has since had discussions with the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia regarding 
future quarterly payments.  A streamlined process has been developed for the Company to request regulatory approval to make 
debenture interest payments.  All quarterly interest payments subsequent to the June 2021 payment up to and including the June 
2024 payment have been made.  The accrued interest payable on subordinated debt securities was $45 thousand and the interest 
expense was $1.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2024.  The accrued interest payable on subordinated debt securities was 
$44 thousand and the interest expense was $814 thousand for the year ended March 31, 2023.

Paycheck Protection Program Liquidity Facility (PPPLF).  The Federal Reserve established the PPPLF to support the 
PPP program by extending credit to eligible financial institutions that originate PPP loans, taking the loans as collateral at face 
value.  The interest rate on PPPLF advances is fixed at 0.35% and the maturity date is equal to the maturity date of the PPP 
loans pledged to secure the extension of credit.  During the twelve months ended March 31, 2023, the Bank repaid its remaining 
$3 thousand outstanding advance under its PPPLF.  There was no interest expense on PPLF advances for the years ended 
March 31, 2024 and 2023.  

Other Borrowings.  During fiscal year 2024, the Company entered into a 5-year unsecured long-term, below-market-
rate loan in the amount of $2.5 million provided by a third party.  At March 31, 2024, the Company had $5.0 million in these 
fixed rate, low interest loans outstanding.  Based on the covenants of these notes, the proceeds will be used to finance eligible 
loans offered through the Bank's community investment initiatives and loan programs.  The accrued interest payable and 
interest expense on these notes was $7 thousand and $74 thousand, respectively, for the year ended March 31, 2024.  The 
accrued interest payable and interest expense was $3 thousand and $25 thousand, respectively, for the year ended March 31, 
2023.  
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The following table presents expected maturities of the Company's long-term borrowings at March 31, 2024:
$ in thousands
Year ending March 31,
2025 $ 28,027 
2026 — 
2027 2,500 
2028 — 
2029 2,500 
Thereafter 13,403 

Total $ 46,430 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding Carver Federal's borrowings as of and for the years ended 
March 31:
$ in thousands 2024 2023
Amounts outstanding at the end of year:

FHLB advances $ 28,027 $ 35,000 
Subordinated debt securities  13,403  13,403 
PPPLF  —  — 
Other  5,000  2,500 

Rate paid at year end:
FHLB advances  4.61 %  4.99 %
Subordinated debt securities  8.64 %  7.96 %
Other  1.50 %  1.00 %

Maximum amount of borrowing outstanding at any month end:
FHLB advances $ 25,000 $ 40,000 
Subordinated debt securities  13,403  13,403 
PPPLF  —  3 
Other  2,500  2,500 

Approximate average amounts outstanding for year:
FHLB advances $ 27,020 $ 11,776 
Subordinated debt securities  13,403  13,403 
PPPLF  —  — 
Other  4,813  2,500 

Approximate weighted average rate paid during year:
FHLB advances  4.22 %  3.04 %
Subordinated debt securities  8.65 %  6.07 %
PPPLF  — %  0.14 %
Other  1.54 %  1.01 %
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAXES

The following is a reconciliation of the expected Federal income tax rate to the consolidated effective tax rate for the 
years ended March 31:

2024 2023
$ in thousands Amount Percent Amount Percent
Statutory Federal income tax expense (benefit) $ (625)  21.0 % $ (924)  21.0 %
Federal deferred tax adjustments  4  (0.2)  —  — 
Change in valuation allowance  713  (23.9)  953  (21.7) 
Bank owned life insurance  (96)  3.2  —  — 
Other  4  (0.1)  (29)  0.7 
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ —  — % $ —  — %

Tax effects of existing temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred 
tax liabilities are included in other assets at March 31 as follows:

$ in thousands 2024 2023
Deferred Tax Assets:

Allowance for credit losses $ 1,987 $ 1,742 
Compensation and benefits  39  39 
Nonaccrual loan interest  188  63 
Net operating loss carryforward  20,168  19,191 
New markets tax credit  3,434  3,434 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities  2,668  2,565 
Lease liability  3,629  4,452 
Other  58  33 

Total Deferred Tax Assets  32,171  31,519 
Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Depreciation  501  671 
ROU asset  3,366  4,169 
Other  —  52 

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities  3,867  4,892 
Deferred Tax Assets, net  28,304  26,627 
Valuation Allowance  (28,304)  (26,627) 
Deferred Tax Assets, net of valuation allowance $ — $ — 

At March 31, 2024, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal purposes of approximately $52.0 
million, for state purposes of approximately $78.2 million and for city purposes of approximately $65.7 million which are 
available to offset future federal, state and city income and which expire over varying periods from March 2030 through March 
2040.  Federal net operating loss carryforwards of $16.4 million do not expire, as such losses were incurred after the enactment 
of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which provides for an unlimited loss carryforward period.

The Company has no uncertain tax positions.  The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to federal, New York State 
and New York City income taxation.  The Company is no longer subject to examination by taxing authorities for years before 
March 31, 2018.  A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be 
sustained in a tax examination; with a tax examination being presumed to occur.  The amount recognized is the largest amount 
of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination.  For tax positions not meeting the “more likely 
than not” test, no tax benefit is recorded.  
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NOTE 11. LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

The following table reconciles the loss available to common shareholders (numerator) and the weighted average 
common stock outstanding (denominator) for both basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended March 31:

$ in thousands except per share data 2024 2023
Net loss attributable to Carver Bancorp, Inc. $ (2,977) $ (4,401) 

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic  4,845,975  4,277,709 
Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted  4,845,975  4,277,709 

Basic loss per common share $ (0.61) $ (1.03) 
Diluted loss per common share $ (0.61) $ (1.03) 

For the years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, all restricted shares and outstanding stock options were anti-
dilutive.  For details of restricted shares and stock options, please refer to Note 14. "Employee Benefit and Stock Compensation 
Plans."

NOTE 12. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

 Conversion and Stock Offering.  On October 24, 1994, the Bank issued in an initial public offering 2,314,375 shares of 
common stock, par value $0.01 (the “Common Stock”), at a price of $10 per share resulting in net proceeds of $21.5 
million.  As part of the initial public offering, the Bank established a liquidation account at the time of conversion, in an amount 
equal to the surplus and reserves of the Bank at September 30, 1994.  In the unlikely event of a complete liquidation of the 
Bank (and only in such event), eligible depositors who continue to maintain accounts shall be entitled to receive a distribution 
from the liquidation account.  The total amount of the liquidation account may be decreased if the balances of eligible deposits 
decreased as measured on the annual determination dates.  The Bank is not permitted to pay dividends to the Company on its 
capital stock if the effect thereof would cause its net worth to be reduced below either: (i) the amount required for the 
liquidation account, or (ii) the amount required for the Bank to comply with applicable minimum regulatory capital 
requirements.  In 2011 the stockholders approved a 1-for-15 reverse stock split pursuant to which each 15 shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock would be converted into one share of Common Stock.  The 1-for-15 reverse stock split was 
effective as of October 27, 2011, resulting in a reduction in the number of outstanding shares of the Company’s Common Stock 
from 2,492,415 to 166,161, an increase of the conversion price of the Series C Preferred Stock and the Series D Preferred Stock 
and the exchange ratio of the Series B Preferred Stock from $0.5451 to $8.1765, and a corresponding decrease in the number of 
shares of Common Stock issued to the Investors and Treasury.  During the year ended March 31, 2012, all outstanding shares of 
Series B Preferred Stock were converted to Common Stock and all outstanding shares of Series C preferred Stock were 
converted to Series D Preferred Stock.  As of March 31, 2024, there were 5,140,872 shares of Company common stock 
outstanding.

 Series D Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock.  The holders of Series D Preferred Stock are entitled to 
receive dividends, on an as-converted basis, simultaneously to the payment of any dividends on the Company's common stock.  
Dividends on the Series D Preferred Stock are not cumulative.  If the Company's board of directors does not declare a dividend 
with respect to any dividend period, the holders of the Series D Preferred Stock will have no right to receive any dividend for 
that period.  The Company may not declare, pay or set apart for payment any dividend or make any distribution on common 
stock, unless at the time of such dividend or distribution the Company simultaneously pays a non-cumulative dividend or makes 
a distribution on each outstanding share of Series D Preferred Stock on an as-converted basis.  The holders of Series D 
preferred Stock are generally not entitled to vote, except with respect to amendments to the Company's certificate of 
incorporation that would change the rights and preferences of the Series D Preferred Stock, the creation or increase of any class 
of securities senior to the Series D Preferred Stock, the consummation of certain mergers, consolidations or other transactions 
where the holders of the Series D Preferred Stock are not converted into or exchanged for preference securities of the surviving 
entity, and as otherwise required by applicable law.

 The Series D Preferred Stock shall automatically convert into shares of Common Stock only upon the following 
transfers to third parties (“Eligible Transfers”):

• a transfer in a widespread public distribution;
• a transfer in which no transferee (together with its affiliates and other transferees acting in concert with it) acquires 

more than 2% of the Company’s common stock or any other class or series of the Company’s voting stock; or
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• a transfer to a transferee that (together with its affiliates and other transferees acting in concert with it) owns or 
controls more than 50% of the Company’s common stock, without regard to the transfer. 

 The conversion price of the Series D Preferred Stock is $8.1765, and is subject to adjustment in the event of stock 
splits, subdivisions or combinations, dividends and distributions, issuance of certain rights, spin-offs, self-tenders and exchange 
offers as set forth under the agreement.  The Series D Preferred Stock is not convertible at the option of the holders. As of 
March 31, 2024, there were 9,557 shares of Series D Preferred Stock outstanding.

During fiscal year 2023, Prudential Insurance Company of America ("Prudential"), an institutional investor, donated a 
total of 550 shares of its holdings of Series D Preferred Stock to third parties.  The third parties notified the Company of their 
intention to cancel the shares and convert them into 67,265 shares of Common Stock.  During the twelve months ended 
March 31, 2024, Prudential donated a total of 3,644 shares of its holdings of Series D Preferred Stock to third parties.  The third 
parties notified the Company of their intention to cancel the shares and convert them into 445,661 shares of Common Stock.  
The conversions had no impact on the Company's total capital.   

 On August 6, 2002, the Company announced a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to 15,442 shares of its 
outstanding common stock.  As of March 31, 2024, 11,744 shares of its common stock have been repurchased in open market 
transactions.  As a result of the Company's participation in the TARP CDCI, the United States Department of the Treasury's 
(the "U.S. Treasury") prior approval was required to make further repurchases.  On August 6, 2020, the Company entered into a 
Securities Purchase Agreement with the U.S. Treasury to repurchase 2,321,286 shares of the common stock of the Company, 
par value $0.01 per share, owned by the U.S. Treasury for an aggregate purchase price of $2.5 million.  The stock repurchase 
provided for in the Securities Purchase Agreement was completed on August 6, 2020.  Upon completion of the repurchase 
pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the U.S. Treasury was no longer a stockholder in the Company.  In connection 
with the repurchase, Morgan Stanley provided a grant of $2.5 million that was considered contributed capital to the Company to 
fund the repurchase transaction.  

Series E Preferred Stock is perpetual and has no maturity date.  The Company may redeem the shares of Series E 
Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, on any date on or after February 1, 2026.  The holders of Series E Preferred Stock will be 
entitled to receive, if declared by the Company's board of directors, noncumulative cash dividends on each date that dividends 
or other distributions are payable.  The holders of the Series E Preferred Stock will not have voting rights except for any vote 
required by law or by the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, or for effecting or validating: (i) any increase or decrease in 
the authorized number of shares of Series E Preferred Stock or issuance of shares of Series E Preferred Stock after the original 
issue date; (ii) any amendment, alteration or repeal of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the 
Company that would adversely affect the voting powers, preferences, privileges or special rights of the Series E Preferred 
Stock; (iii) any amendment or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company to authorize or create, or 
increase the authorized amount of any shares of any class or series or any securities convertible into shares of any class or series 
of capital stock of the Company ranking senior to Series E Preferred Stock in the payment of dividends or in the distribution of 
assets on any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company; or (iv) a merger or consolidation of the Company with 
another entity (whether or not a corporation), unless in each case (A) the shares of Series E Preferred Stock remain outstanding 
and (B) such shares remaining outstanding or such preference securities, as the case may be, have such rights, preferences, 
privileges and voting powers, and limitations and restrictions, and limitations and restrictions thereof as are not materially less 
favorable to the holders thereof than the rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers, and restrictions and limitations 
thereof, of the Series E Preferred Stock immediately prior to such consummation.  

On February 16, 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with J.P. Morgan Chase Community Development 
Corporation ("J.P. Morgan"), under which it sold: (i) 112,612 shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a 
purchase price of $8.88 per share, and (ii) 5,000 shares of a new series of preferred stock, Series F non-cumulative non-voting 
non-convertible preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a purchase price of $1,000 per share, in a private placement for 
gross proceeds of approximately $6.0 million.   On September 27, 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with J.P. 
Morgan under which it sold an additional 4,000 shares of its Series F Preferred Stock, at a purchase price of $1,000 per share, in 
a private placement for gross proceeds of $4.0 million.  The issuances of the shares were exempt from registration pursuant to 
the exemption provided under Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  The 
offerings were made only to accredited investors as that term is defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Act. 

Series F Preferred Stock is perpetual and has no maturity date.  The shares are not convertible.  The Company may 
redeem the shares of Series F Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, on any date on or after February 16, 2026.  The holders of 
Series F Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, if declared by the Company's board of directors, noncumulative cash 
dividends on each date that dividends or other distributions are payable.  The holders of the Series F Preferred Stock will not 
have voting rights except for any vote required by law or by the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, or for effecting or 
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validating: (i) any amendment, alteration or repeal of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the 
Company that would significantly and adversely affect the voting powers, preferences, privileges or special rights of the Series 
F Preferred Stock; (ii) any amendment or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company to authorize 
or create, or increase the authorized amount of any shares of any class or series or any securities convertible into shares of any 
class or series of capital stock of the Company ranking senior to Series F Preferred Stock in the payment of dividends or in the 
distribution of assets on any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company; or (iii) a merger or consolidation of the 
Company with another entity (whether or not a corporation), unless in each case (A) the shares of Series F Preferred Stock 
remain outstanding and (B) such shares remaining outstanding or such preference securities, as the case may be, have such 
rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers , and limitations and restrictions, and limitations and restrictions thereof as are 
not materially less favorable to the holders thereof than the rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers, and restrictions 
and limitations thereof, of the Series F Preferred Stock immediately prior to such consummation.  

On December 14, 2021, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the "Sales Agreement") with Piper Sandler & 
Co. (“Piper Sandler”), as sales agent, pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell shares of our common stock, par value 
$0.01 per share, having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $20.0 million (the “ATM Shares”) from time to time.  Any sales 
made under the Sales Agreement will be sales deemed to be "at-the-market (ATM) offerings," as defined in Rule 415 under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  These sales will be made through ordinary broker transactions on the NASDAQ Capital 
Market stock exchange at market prices prevailing at the time, at prices related to the prevailing market prices, or at negotiated 
prices.  The Company intends to use the net proceeds of these offerings for general corporate purposes, including support for 
organic loan growth and repayment of all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of our outstanding subordinated debt 
securities.  During fiscal year 2022, the Company sold an aggregate of 397,367 shares of common stock under the ATM 
offering program, resulting in gross proceeds of $3.1 million and net proceeds to the Company of $3.0 million after deducting 
commissions and expenses.  There were no additional offerings in fiscal year 2023 and during the twelve months ended 
March 31, 2024.  

On July 19, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with National Community Investment Fund, under which it 
sold 378,788 shares of its common stock, par value $0.01 per share, at a purchase price of $2.64 per share in a private 
placement for gross proceeds of approximately $1.0 million.  The Company intends to use the net proceeds of the private 
placement for general corporate purposes.  The issuance of the shares is exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Regulation D of the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  

Regulatory Capital.  The operations and profitability of the Bank are significantly affected by legislation and the 
policies of the various regulatory agencies.  In accordance with the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer 
Protection Act, the federal banking agencies have adopted, effective January 1, 2020, a final rule whereby financial institutions 
and financial institution holding companies that have less than $10 billion in total consolidated assets and meet other qualifying 
criteria, including a leverage ratio of greater than 9%, will be eligible to opt into a “Community Bank Leverage Ratio” 
framework.  Qualifying community banking organizations that elect to use the community bank leverage ratio framework and 
that maintain a leverage ratio of greater than 9% will be considered to have satisfied the generally applicable risk-based and 
leverage capital requirements in the agencies’ capital rules and will be considered to have met the “well capitalized” ratio 
requirements under the Prompt Corrective Action statutes.  The agencies reserved the authority to disallow the use of the 
Community Bank Leverage Ratio by a financial institution or holding company based on the risk profile of the organization.  

Carver Federal, as a matter of prudent management, targets as its goal the maintenance of capital ratios which exceed 
these minimum requirements and that are consistent with Carver Federal's risk profile.  In assessing an institution's capital 
adequacy, the OCC takes into consideration not only these numeric factors but also qualitative factors, and has the authority to 
establish higher capital requirements for individual institutions where necessary.  Carver was issued an Individual Minimum 
Capital Ratio ("IMCR") letter by the OCC, which requires the Bank to maintain minimum regulatory capital levels of 9% for its 
Tier 1 leverage ratio and 12% for its total risk-based capital ratio.  At March 31, 2024, the Bank's capital level exceeded the 
regulatory requirements and its IMCR requirements with a Tier 1 leverage ratio of 9.56%, Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 
of 12.00%, Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio of 12.00%, and a total risk-based capital ratio of 12.98%. 
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The table below presents the Bank's regulatory capital ratios at March 31, 2024 and 2023.  
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023

($ in thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Tier 1 leverage capital

Regulatory capital $ 73,140  9.56 % $ 74,265  10.61 %
Individual minimum capital requirement  68,888  9.00 %  63,005  9.00 %
Minimum capital requirement  30,617  4.00 %  28,002  4.00 %
Excess  42,523  5.56 %  46,263  6.61 %

Common equity Tier 1
Regulatory capital $ 73,140  12.00 % $ 74,265  12.47 %
Minimum capital requirement  42,649  7.00 %  41,679  7.00 %
Excess  30,491  5.00 %  32,586  5.47 %

Tier 1 risk-based capital
Regulatory capital $ 73,140  12.00 % $ 74,265  12.47 %
Minimum capital requirement  51,789  8.50 %  50,610  8.50 %
Excess  21,351  3.50 %  23,655  3.97 %

Total risk-based capital
Regulatory capital $ 79,106  12.98 % $ 79,599  13.37 %
Individual minimum capital requirement  73,113  12.00 %  71,450  12.00 %
Minimum capital requirement  63,974  10.50 %  62,519  10.50 %
Excess  15,132  2.48 %  17,080  2.87 %

NOTE 13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following tables set forth changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax for the 
years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023:

$ in thousands
At 

March 31, 2023

Other 
Comprehensive 

Loss
At 

March 31, 2024

Net unrealized loss on securities available-for-sale $ (12,215) $ (490) $ (12,705) 

$ in thousands
At 

March 31, 2022

Other 
Comprehensive 

Loss
At 

March 31, 2023

Net unrealized loss on securities available-for-sale $ (6,662) $ (5,553) $ (12,215) 

There were no reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss to the consolidated statement of 
operations for the twelve months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.  

Comprehensive Income (Loss).  Comprehensive income (loss) represents net income (loss) and certain amounts reported 
directly in stockholders' equity, such as net unrealized gain or loss on securities available-for-sale.  The balance at March 31, 
2024 included $490 thousand change in unrealized losses for the year ended March 31, 2024.  The balance at March 31, 2023 
included $5.6 million change in unrealized losses for the year ended March 31, 2023.

NOTE 14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

Savings Incentive Plan. Carver has a savings incentive plan, pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Code, for all eligible 
employees of the Bank. The Bank matches contributions to the 401(k) Plan equal to 100% of pre-tax contributions made by 
each employee up to a maximum of 4% of their pay, subject to IRS limitations.  All such matching contributions are fully 
vested and non-forfeitable at all times regardless of the years of service with the Bank.  The Bank reinstated the 401(k) match in 
January 2022, which had been suspended since October 2020.  Compensation expense recognized for the 401(k) matching 
contributions was $330 thousand and $376 thousand, respectively, for fiscal 2024 and 2023.

Stock Option Plans. In September 2006, Carver stockholders approved the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2006 
Incentive Plan") which provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock to employees and 
directors who are selected to receive awards by the Committee.  The 2006 Incentive Plan authorizes Carver to grant awards 
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with respect to 20,000 shares, but no more than 10,000  shares of restricted stock may be granted.  Options are granted at a price 
not less than fair market value of Carver common stock at the time of the grant for a period not to exceed 10 years.  Shares 
generally vest in 20% increments over 5 years, however, the Committee may specify a different vesting schedule.  At March 31, 
2024, there were 3,600 options outstanding under the 2006 Incentive Plan and 3,600 were exercisable.  All options are 
exercisable immediately upon a participant's disability, death or a change in control, as defined in the 2006 Incentive Plan, if the 
person is employed on that date.  If the person is terminated (voluntary or involuntarily) from the Bank, all unvested shares are 
forfeited.  Pursuant to the plan, the Bank recognized no expense for fiscal years 2024 and 2023.

 In September 2014, Carver stockholders approved the Carver Bancorp, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2014 
Incentive Plan") which provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock to executive 
officers and directors who are selected to receive awards by the Committee.  The 2014 Incentive Plan authorizes Carver to grant 
awards with respect to 250,000 shares. All of the shares may be issued pursuant to stock options (all of which may be incentive 
stock options) or all of which may be issued pursuant to restricted stock awards or restricted stock units.  Unless the Committee 
determines otherwise, the award agreements will specify that no award will vest more rapidly than 25% per year over a four-
year period, with the first installment vesting one year after the date of grant, subject to acceleration upon the occurrence of 
specific events.  During fiscal year 2024, 83,000 restricted stock awards were issued.  There were 44,500 restricted stock 
awards issued in fiscal year 2023.  At March 31, 2024, there were 2,667 options outstanding under the 2014 Incentive Plan and 
2,667 were exercisable.  All options are exercisable immediately upon a participant's disability, death or change in control, as 
defined in the 2014 Incentive Plan, if the person is employed on that date.  If the person is terminated (voluntary or 
involuntarily) from the Bank, all unvested shares are forfeited.  Pursuant to the plan, the Bank recognized $68 thousand as 
expense for fiscal year 2024 and $247 thousand in fiscal year 2023.

Information regarding nonvested shares of restricted stock awards outstanding for the years ended March 31 is as 
follows:

2024 2023

Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Price Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Price

Outstanding, beginning of year  57,833 $ 6.45  38,833 $ 5.15 

Granted  83,000  2.77  44,500  6.84 

Vested  (34,333)  6.32  (20,667)  4.82 

Forfeited  (21,500)  5.88  (4,833)  6.53 

Outstanding, end of year  85,000 $ 3.06  57,833 $ 6.45 

Unrecognized compensation expense on unvested restricted shares as of March 31, 2024 totaled $187 thousand.  This amount 
will be recognized over the remaining vesting period of 0.58 years (weighted average).  The vesting of the grants totaled $220 
thousand and $91 thousand for fiscal years 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Information regarding stock options as of and for the years ended March 31 is as follows: 
2024 2023

Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Outstanding, beginning of year  6,267 $ 5.27  6,600 $ 5.29 

Granted  —  —  —  — 

Exercised  —  —  —  — 

Expired/Forfeited  —  —  333  5.70 

Outstanding, end of year  6,267 $ 5.27  6,267 $ 5.27 

Exercisable, at year end  6,267  5,933 
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Information regarding stock options as of March 31, 2024 is as follows:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of 
Exercise Prices Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Life

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price Shares

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price
$ 3.00 $ 5.00  1,000 3.70 $ 3.48  1,000 $ 3.48 

5.00 $ 5.59  3,600 1.23  5.56  3,600  5.56 
5.60 $ 5.99  1,667 6.33  5.70  1,667  5.70 

 Total  6,267  6,267 

As of March 31, 2024, there was no unrecognized compensation expense on unvested stock options.  There were no stock 
options awarded to employees or directors during the year ended March 31, 2024.  At March 31, 2024, all outstanding options 
had no intrinsic value.  The Company recorded stock compensation expense of $2 thousand in fiscal 2023.

NOTE 15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Credit Related Commitments.  The Bank is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal 
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers and in connection with its overall investment strategy.  These 
instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate and liquidity risk.  These instruments are not recorded 
in the consolidated financial statements.  Such instruments primarily include lending obligations, including commitments to 
originate mortgage and consumer loans and to fund unused lines of credit.  

The Bank's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for 
commitments to extend credit is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments.  The Bank uses the same credit 
policies in making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.

The following table reflects the Bank's outstanding commitments as of March 31:
$ in thousands 2024 2023
Lines of credit $ 4,268 $ 3,837 
Commitment to fund private equity investment  650  253 

$ 4,918 $ 4,090 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition 
established in the contract.  Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require 
payment of a fee.  Since some of these commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment 
amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  The Bank evaluates each customer's creditworthiness on a case-
by-case basis.  The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Bank upon extension of credit, is based on 
management's credit evaluation of the counterparty.

Mortgage Representation & Warranty Liabilities

During the period 2004 through 2009, the Bank originated 1-4 family residential mortgage loans and sold the loans to 
the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”).  The loans were sold to FNMA with the standard representations and 
warranties for loans sold to the Government Sponsored Entities (GSE's).  The Bank may be required to repurchase these loans 
in the event of breaches of these representations and warranties.  In the event of a repurchase, the Bank is typically required to 
pay the unpaid principal balance as well as outstanding interest and fees.  The Bank then recovers the loan or, if the loan has 
been foreclosed, the underlying collateral.  The Bank is exposed to any losses on repurchased loans after giving effect to any 
recoveries on the collateral.  The Bank has not received a request to repurchase any of these loans since the second quarter of 
fiscal 2015, and there have not been any additional requests from FNMA for loans to be reviewed.  

The following table presents information on open requests from FNMA.  The amounts presented are based on 
outstanding loan principal balances.
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$ in thousands Loans sold to FNMA

Open claims as of March 31, 2023 (1) $ 1,385 

Gross new demands received — 

Loans repurchased/made whole — 

Demands rescinded — 

Advances on open claims — 
Principal payments received on open claims (18) 

Open claims as of March 31, 2024 (1) $ 1,367 
(1) The open claims include all open requests received by the Bank where either FNMA has requested loan files for review, where FNMA has 

not formally rescinded the repurchase request or where the Bank has not agreed to repurchase the loan.  The amounts reflected in this table 
are the unpaid principal balance and do not incorporate any losses the Bank would incur upon the repurchase of these loans.

The table below summarizes changes in our representation and warranty reserves during fiscal 2024.

$ in thousands March 31, 2024

Representation and warranty repurchase reserve, March 31, 2023 (1) $ 95 

Net adjustment to reserve for repurchase losses (2) (9) 

Representation and warranty repurchase reserve, March 31, 2024 (1) $ 86 
(1) Reported in consolidated statements of financial condition as a component of other liabilities.
(2) Component of other non-interest expense.

The Bank also has, in the normal course of business, commitments for services and supplies.

Legal Proceedings.  From time to time, the Company and the Bank or one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries are parties 
to various legal proceedings incident to their business.  At March 31, 2024, certain claims, suits, complaints and investigations 
(collectively “proceedings”) involving the Company and the Bank or a subsidiary, arising in the ordinary course of business, 
have been filed or are pending.  The Company is unable at this time to determine the ultimate outcome of each proceeding, but 
believes, after discussions with legal counsel representing the Company and the Bank or the subsidiary in these proceedings, 
that it has meritorious defenses to each proceeding and appropriate measures have been taken to defend the interests of the 
Company, Bank or subsidiary.  As of March 31, 2024, we are not involved in any pending legal proceeding as a plaintiff or a 
defendant other than routine legal proceedings occurring in the ordinary course of business, and are not involved in any legal 
proceeding, the outcome of which management believes would be material to the financial condition or results of operations of 
the Company or the Bank.  

NOTE 16. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is an “exit” price, representing the amount that would be received when selling an asset, or paid when 
transferring a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants. Fair value is a market-based measurement that 
should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  Fair value 
measurements are categorized in a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as 
follows:

• Level 1— Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active 
markets.

• Level 2— Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full 
term of the financial instrument.

• Level 3— Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

A financial instrument’s categorization within this valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement.
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The following table presents, by valuation hierarchy, assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
March 31, 2024 and 2023, and that are included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at these 
dates: 

Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2024, Using

$ in thousands

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable 

Inputs (Level 2)

Significant  
Unobservable 

Inputs (Level 3)
Total Fair 

Value
Mortgage servicing rights $ — $ — $ 140 $ 140 
Investment securities

Available-for-sale:
Mortgage-backed securities:

Government National Mortgage Association —  283  —  283 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation —  15,798  —  15,798 
Federal National Mortgage Association —  8,636  —  8,636 

U.S. Government Agency securities —  6,194  —  6,194 
Corporate bonds —  3,063  —  3,063 
Muni securities —  14,056  —  14,056 
Total available-for-sale securities —  48,030  —  48,030 

Total assets $ — $ 48,030 $ 140 $ 48,170 

Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2023, Using

$ in thousands

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable 

Inputs (Level 2)

Significant  
Unobservable 

Inputs (Level 3)
Total Fair 

Value
Mortgage servicing rights $ — $ — $ 152 $ 152 
Investment securities

Available-for-sale:
Mortgage-backed securities:

Government National Mortgage Association —  341  —  341 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation —  17,600  —  17,600 
Federal National Mortgage Association —  9,502  —  9,502 

U.S. Government Agency securities —  9,326  —  9,326 
Corporate bonds —  3,092  —  3,092 
Muni securities —  13,982  —  13,982 
Total available-for-sale securities —  53,843  —  53,843 

Total assets $ — $ 53,843 $ 152 $ 53,995 

Instruments for which unobservable inputs are significant to their fair value measurement (i.e., Level 3) include 
mortgage servicing rights ("MSR").  Level 3 assets accounted for 0.02% of the Company's total assets measured at fair value at 
March 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company reviews and updates the fair value hierarchy classifications on a quarterly basis.  Changes from one 
quarter to the next that are related to the observable inputs to a fair value measurement may result in a reclassification from one 
hierarchy level to another.

Below is a description of the methods and significant assumptions utilized in estimating the fair value of available-for-
sale securities and MSR:

Where quoted prices are available in an active market, securities are classified within Level 1 of the valuation 
hierarchy. 

If quoted market prices are not available for the specific security, then fair values are estimated by using pricing 
models, quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics, or discounted cash flows.  These pricing models primarily use 
market-based or independently sourced market parameters as inputs, including, but not limited to, yield curves, interest rates, 
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equity or debt prices, and credit spreads.  In addition to market information, models also incorporate transaction details, such as 
maturity and cash flow assumptions.  Securities valued in this manner would generally be classified within Level 2 of the 
valuation hierarchy and primarily include such instruments as mortgage-related securities and corporate debt.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, there were no transfers of investments into or out of each level of the fair 
value hierarchy. 

In certain cases where there is limited activity or less transparency around inputs to the valuation, securities are 
classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.  In valuing certain securities, the determination of fair value may require 
benchmarking to similar instruments or analyzing default and recovery rates.  Quoted price information for the MSRs is not 
available.  Therefore, MSRs are valued using market-standard models to model the specific cash flow structure.  Key inputs to 
the model consist of principal balance of loans being serviced, servicing fees and discount and prepayment rates.

 The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value 
or reflective of future fair values.  Furthermore, while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and 
consistent with those of other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value 
of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

The following table includes a rollforward of assets classified by the Company within Level 3 of the valuation 
hierarchy for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023:

$ in thousands

Beginning 
balance, 

April 1, 2023

Total Realized/
Unrealized 

Gains/(Losses) 
Recorded in 

Income (1)
Issuances / 

(Settlements)

Transfers 
to/(from) 
Level 3

Ending 
balance, 

March 31, 2024

Change in 
Unrealized Gains/
(Losses) Related to 

Instruments Held at 
March 31, 2024

Mortgage Servicing Rights  152  (12)  —  —  140  (12) 

$ in thousands

Beginning 
balance, 

April 1, 2022

Total Realized/
Unrealized 

Gains/(Losses) 
Recorded in 

Income (1)
Issuances / 

(Settlements)

Transfers 
to/(from) 
Level 3

Ending 
balance, 

March 31, 2023

Change in 
Unrealized Gains/
(Losses) Related to 

Instruments Held at 
March 31, 2023

Mortgage Servicing Rights  162  (10)  —  —  152  (9) 
(1) Includes net servicing cash flows and the passage of time.

For Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the significant 
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements were as follows:   

$ in thousands
Fair Value at 

March 31, 2024 Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 
Input Value

Mortgage Servicing Rights  140 Discounted Cash Flow Weighted Average Constant Prepayment Rate (1)  6.4 %
Range of Inputs 3.0% to 7.1%

Option Adjusted Spread ("OAS") applied to 
Treasury curve

1000 basis 
points

$ in thousands
Fair Value at 

March 31, 2023 Valuation Technique Significant Unobservable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 
Input Value

Mortgage Servicing Rights  152 Discounted Cash Flow Weighted Average Constant Prepayment Rate (1)  6.7 %
Range of inputs 3.1% to 9.5%

Option Adjusted Spread ("OAS") applied to 
Treasury curve

1000 basis 
points

(1) Represents annualized loan repayment rate assumptions

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.  Such instruments are subject to fair value 
adjustments under certain circumstances (e.g. when there is evidence of impairment).  The following table presents assets and 
liabilities that were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, and that are included in the 
Company's Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at these dates:
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Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2024, Using

$ in thousands

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant  
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)
Total Fair 

Value
Other real estate owned $ — $ — $ 52 $ 52 

Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2023, Using

$ in thousands

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for 

Identical Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant  
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)
Total Fair 

Value
Impaired loans $ — $ — $ 5,529 $ 5,529 
Other real estate owned $ — $ — $ 60 $ 60 

For Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the significant 
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements were as follows:

$ in thousands
Fair Value at 

March 31, 2024 Valuation Technique
Significant 

Unobservable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 
Input Value

Other real estate owned 52 Appraisal of collateral Appraisal adjustments 7.5% cost to sell

$ in thousands
Fair Value at 

March 31, 2023 Valuation Technique
Significant 

Unobservable Inputs

Significant 
Unobservable 
Input Value

Impaired loans $ 5,529 Appraisal of collateral Appraisal adjustments 7.5% cost to sell
Other real estate owned 60 Appraisal of collateral Appraisal adjustments 7.5% cost to sell

The fair values of collateral dependent impaired loans are determined using various valuation techniques, including 
consideration of appraised values and other pertinent real estate market data. 

Other real estate owned represents property acquired by the Bank in settlement of loans less costs to sell (i.e., through 
foreclosure, repossession or as an in-substance foreclosure).  These assets are recorded at the lower of their cost or fair value.  
At the time of acquisition of the real estate owned, the real property value is adjusted to its current fair value.  Any subsequent 
adjustments will be to the lower of cost or fair value.  As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, we had loans with a carrying value of 
$15.2 million and $5.6 million, respectively, for which formal foreclosure proceedings were in process.  

NOTE 17. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Disclosures regarding the fair value of financial instruments are required to include, in addition to the carrying value, 
the fair value of certain financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recorded on and off-balance sheet, for which it is 
practicable to estimate fair value.  Accounting guidance defines financial instruments as cash, evidence of ownership of an 
entity, or a contract that conveys or imposes on an entity the contractual right or obligation to either receive or deliver cash or 
another financial instrument.  The fair value of a financial instrument is discussed below.  In cases where quoted market prices 
are not available, estimated fair values have been determined by the Bank using the best available data and estimation 
methodology suitable for each such category of financial instruments.  For those loans and deposits with floating interest rates, 
it is presumed that estimated fair values generally approximate their recorded carrying value.  The Bank's primary component 
of market risk is interest rate volatility.  Fluctuations in interest rates will ultimately impact the Bank's fair value of all interest-
earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, other than those which are short-term in maturity.  
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The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Bank's financial instruments and estimation methodologies at 
March 31 are as follows:  

March 31, 2024

$ in thousands
Carrying
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value

Quoted 
Prices in 
Active 

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets 
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 59,025 $ 59,025 $ 59,025 $ — $ — 
Securities available-for-sale  48,030  48,030  —  48,030  — 
Securities held-to-maturity  2,008  1,905  —  1,905  — 
Loans receivable  617,007  593,484  —  —  593,484 
Accrued interest receivable  3,662  3,662  —  3,662  — 
Mortgage servicing rights  140  140  —  —  140 

Financial Liabilities:
Deposits $ 646,999 $ 642,831 $ 420,663 $ 222,168 $ — 
Advances from FHLB of New York  28,027  27,920  —  27,920  — 
Other borrowed money  18,403  17,623  —  17,623  — 
Accrued interest payable  1,128  1,128  —  1,128  — 

March 31, 2023

$ in thousands
Carrying
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value

Quoted 
Prices in 
Active 

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets  
(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs  

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,552 $ 42,552 $ 42,552 $ — $ — 
Securities available-for-sale  53,843  53,843  —  53,843  — 
Securities held-to-maturity  2,318  2,221  —  2,318  — 
Loans receivable  592,667  567,029  —  —  567,029 
Accrued interest receivable  1,911  1,911  —  1,911  — 
Mortgage servicing rights  152  152  —  —  152 

Financial Liabilities:
Deposits $ 600,429 $ 594,736 $ 418,432 $ 176,304 $ — 
Advances from FHLB of New York  35,000  35,238  —  35,238  — 
Other borrowed money  15,903  14,575  —  14,575  — 
Accrued interest payable  380  380  —  380  — 

NOTE 18. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Variable interest entities (“VIEs”) are consolidated, as required, where Carver has a controlling financial interest in 
these entities and is deemed to be the primary beneficiary.  Carver is normally deemed to have a controlling financial interest 
and be the primary beneficiary if it has both (a) the power to direct activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entities 
economic performance; and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity that could benefit from the activities that could 
potentially be significant to the VIE.  

The Company's subsidiary, Carver Statutory Trust I (the "Trust"), was formed in 2003 for the purpose of issuing $13 
million aggregate liquidation amount of floating rate Capital Securities due September 17, 2033 (“Capital Securities”) and $0.4 
million of common securities (which are the only voting securities of the Trust), which are 100% owned by Carver Bancorp, 
Inc., and using the proceeds to acquire Junior Subordinated Debentures issued by Carver Bancorp, Inc.  Carver Bancorp, Inc. 
has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Capital Securities along with all obligations of the Trust under the trust agreement 
relating to the Capital Securities.  The Company does not consolidate the accounts and related activity of Carver Statutory Trust 
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I because it is not the primary beneficiary of the entity.  At March 31, 2024, the Company's maximum exposure to the Trust is 
$13.4 million, which is the Company's liability to the Trust and includes the Company's investment in the Trust.  

The Bank's subsidiary, Carver Community Development Corporation (“CCDC”), was formed to facilitate its 
participation in local economic development and other community-based initiatives.  Per the NMTC Award's Allocation 
Agreement between the CDFI Fund and CCDC, CCDC is permitted to form and sub-allocate credits to subsidiary Community 
Development Entities (“CDEs”) to facilitate investments in separate development projects.  CCDC established various special 
purpose entities (CDEs 22-25) through which its investments in NMTC eligible activities will be conducted.  As of March 31, 
2024, there have been no activities in these entities.

The Company had no consolidated VIEs at March 31, 2024. 

NOTE 19. NON-INTEREST REVENUE AND EXPENSE

 ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("Topic 606") does not apply to revenue associated with 
financial instruments, including revenue from loans and securities.  In addition, certain non-interest income streams such as 
gains on sales of residential mortgage and SBA loans, income associated with servicing assets, and loan fees, including 
residential mortgage originations to be sold and prepayment and late fees charged across all loan categories are not in scope of 
the guidance.  Topic 606 is applicable to non-interest revenue streams, such as depository fees, service charges and commission 
revenues.  However, the recognition of these revenue streams did not change significantly upon adoption of Topic 606.  The 
Company generally satisfies its performance obligations on contracts with customers as services are rendered, and the 
transaction prices are typically fixed and charged either on a periodic basis or based on activity.  Because performance 
obligations are satisfied as services are rendered and the transaction prices are fixed, there is little judgment involved in 
applying Topic 606 that significantly affects the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with 
customers.  Non-interest revenue streams in-scope of Topic 606 are discussed below.

Depository fees and charges

 Depository fees and charges primarily relate to service fees on deposit accounts and fees earned from debit cards and 
check cashing transactions.  Service fees on deposit accounts consist of ATM fees, NSF fees, account maintenance charges and 
other deposit related fees.  The fees are recognized as revenue over the period the related service is provided, or as incurred for 
transaction-based fees in accordance with the fee schedules for the Bank's deposit products and services. 

Loan fees and service charges

 Loan fees and service charges primarily relate to program management fees and fees earned in accordance with the 
Bank's standard lending fees (such as inspection and late charges). These standard lending fees are recognized as revenue over 
the period the related service is provided.  

Other non-interest income

Other non-interest income includes correspondent banking fees, revenue from the Bank's participation in JPMorgan 
Chase's Empowering Change program, and income associated with an advertising services agreement covering marketing and 
use of the Bank's office space with a third party.  The revenue is recognized over the period the related service is provided.  

Interchange income

The Company earns interchange fees from debit card holder transactions conducted through various payment 
networks.  Interchange fees from cardholder transactions are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction processing 
services provided by an outsource technology solution and are presented on a net basis.
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The following table presents non-interest income, segregated by revenue streams in-scope and out-of-scope of Topic 
606, for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023:

Years Ended March 31,

$ in thousands 2024 2023

Non-interest income

In-scope of Topic 606

Depository fees and charges $ 2,208 $ 2,197 

Loan fees and service charges 389  466 

Other non-interest income 361  236 

Non-interest income (in-scope of Topic 606) 2,958  2,899 

Non-interest income (out-of-scope of Topic 606) 3,765  696 

Total non-interest income $ 6,723 $ 3,595 

The following table sets forth other non-interest income and expense totals exceeding 1% of the aggregate of total 
interest income and non-interest income for any of the years presented:

Years Ended March 31,

$ in thousands 2024 2023

Other non-interest income:

BOLI income $ 459 $ 144 

Other 483  228 

Total non-interest income $ 942 $ 372 

Other non-interest expense:

Advertising $ 376 $ 513 

Legal expense 498  442 

Insurance and surety 1,254  1,200 

Audit expense 727  573 

Data lines / internet 417  398 

Retail expenses 1,151  933 

Operating chargeoffs and other losses 497  132 

Director's fees 402  373 

Other 2,667  2,635 

Total non-interest expense $ 7,989 $ 7,199 

NOTE 20. CARVER BANCORP, INC.  - PARENT COMPANY ONLY
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CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
As of March 31,

$ in thousands 2024 2023

Assets
Cash on deposit with subsidiaries $ 2,487 $ 668 
Investment in subsidiaries  60,838  62,453 
Other assets  840  123 
Total assets $ 64,165 $ 63,244 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Borrowings $ 18,403 $ 15,903 
Accounts payable to subsidiaries  3,300  1,475 
Other liabilities  153  642 
Total liabilities  21,856  18,020 

Stockholders’ equity  42,309  45,224 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 64,165 $ 63,244 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended March 31,

$ in thousands 2024 2023
Income
Equity in net loss/income from subsidiaries $ (457) $ (2,640) 
Other income  135  27 
Grant income  61  439 

Total (loss) income  (261)  (2,174) 
Expense
Interest expense on borrowings  1,233  839 
Salaries and employee benefits  667  712 
Shareholder expense  215  155 
Other  601  521 

Total expense  2,716  2,227 
Net loss $ (2,977) $ (4,401) 
Comprehensive loss $ (3,467) $ (9,954) 
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CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
Years Ended March 31,

$ in thousands 2024 2023
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss $ (2,977) $ (4,401) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from operating activities:

Equity in net loss/income from subsidiaries  457  2,640 
Restricted stock vesting  219  91 
Increase in other assets  (59)  (57) 
Increase in accounts payable to subsidiaries  1,825  976 
Decrease in other liabilities  (488)  (14) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,023)  (765) 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of equity investment  (658)  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (658)  — 

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Increase in borrowings  2,500  — 
Issuance of common stock  1,000  — 

Net cash provided by financing activities  3,500  — 

Net increase (decrease) in cash  1,819  (765) 
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning  668  1,433 
Cash and cash equivalents – ending $ 2,487 $ 668 

NOTE 21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS    

On April 30, 2024, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party, in which the third party would provide 
the Company with a $25.0 million revolving unsecured long-term, below-market-rate loan to support the Bank in financing 
initiatives that reduce greenhouse gas emissions and promote energy efficiency in building projects, fleet upgrades to electric 
vehicles, and electric vehicle charging station infrastructure.  The loan facility will also support the working capital and asset-
specific financing needs of Minority and Women-owned Business Enterprises working on green energy projects, 
weatherization, electrification, and green technology.   

On May 24, 2024, the Bank secured a $1.8 million 12-month fixed-rate advance through the second round of the 
FHLB-NY 0% Development Advance (ZDA) Program, which provides members with subsidized funding in the form of 
interest rate credits to assist in originating or purchasing loans that meet an eligibility criteria.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

 None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. 

(a) Evaluation of  Controls and Procedures

 Disclosure controls and procedures are the controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.  Disclosure controls and procedures 
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports 
that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the 
Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Company maintains controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the 
reports that the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the 
time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  As of March 31, 2024, the 
Company's management, including the Company's Interim Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief 
Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Officer), has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and 
procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”).  In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control 
objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must necessarily reflect the fact that there are resource 
constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and 
procedures relative to their costs.

 Based on the foregoing evaluation, our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our 
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2024. 

(b) Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting.  The Company's system of internal control is designed under the supervision of management, including the 
Company's Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company's financial statements for external reporting purposes in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP.  The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of 
assets; provide reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with the authorization of management 
and the Boards of Directors of the Company and the Bank; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the 
Company's financial statements.  Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements.  Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with policies and procedures may 
deteriorate.

 The management of Carver Bancorp, Inc., with participation of the Interim Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024.  
In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in the Internal Control -- Integrated Framework (2013).  Based on the assessment under COSO, 
management determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2024. 

 This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company's independent registered public accounting 
firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by the Company's 
registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit the Company to provide only management’s report 
in this annual report.
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(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter 
of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2024, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated any contract, 
instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of Company securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense 
conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as that term is used in SEC regulations..

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.

Not Applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

Information concerning Executive Officers of the Company which responds to this Item is incorporated by reference 
from the section entitled "Executive Officers of Carver and Carver Federal" in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be 
filed in connection with the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Proxy Statement").  The information that responds to 
this Item with respect to Directors is incorporated by reference from the section entitled "Election of Directors" in the Proxy 
Statement.  Information with respect to compliance by the Company's Directors and Executive Officers with Section 16(a) of 
the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference from the subsection entitled "Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports" in the Proxy 
Statement. 

Information regarding the audit committee of the Company's Board of Directors, including information regarding 
audit committee financial experts serving on the audit committee, is presented under the heading "Corporate Governance" in 
the Company's Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.  Information regarding the process for shareholder 
nomination of directors is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement and presented under the heading "Corporate 
Governance." 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled 
"Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers" in the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled "Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled "Transactions 
with Certain Related Persons" in the Proxy Statement. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is BDO USA, P.C., New York, New York, PCAOB ID: 243.  The 
information required in response to this Item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled "Auditor Fee Information" in 
the Proxy Statement. 

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

I. List of Documents Filed as Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

A. The following consolidated financial statements are included in Item 8 of this Annual Report:

1. Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

2. Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 

3. Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

4. Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

5. Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023
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6. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

7. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

B. Financial Statement Schedules.  Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or 
the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes thereto under Item 8.

II. Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K: 

A. See Exhibit Index 

III.  Exhibits required by Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
 
A.  See Exhibit Index

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY.

 None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX    
Exhibit 
Number  Description

3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of Carver Bancorp, Inc. (1)

3.2  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Carver Bancorp, Inc. (2)

3.3 Certificate of Designation for Mandatorily Convertible Non-Voting Participating Preferred Stock Series C and 
Convertible Non-Cumulative Non-Voting Participating Preferred Stock, Series D of Carver Bancorp, Inc. (3)

3.4 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Carver Bancorp, Inc. (4)

3.5 Certificate of Designations of Non-Cumulative Non-Voting Participating Preferred Stock, Series E, par value $0.01 per 
share (5)

3.6 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designations of Non-Cumulative Non-Voting Participating Preferred Stock, 
Series E, par value $0.01 per share (6)

3.7 Amended and Restated Certificate of Designations of Non-Cumulative Non-Voting Participating Preferred Stock, Series 
F, par value $0.01 per share (7)

4.1  Stock Certificate of Carver Bancorp, Inc. (1)

4.2  Description of Carver Bancorp, Inc. Securities (8)

10.1
 

Carver Federal Savings Bank 401(k) Savings Plan in RSI Retirement Trust, as amended and restated effective as of 
January 1, 1997 and including provisions effective through January 1, 2002 (9)

10.2 First Amendment to the Restatement of the Carver Federal Savings Bank 401(k) Savings Plan (9) 

10.3 Second Amendment to the Restatement of the Carver Federal Savings Bank 401(k) Savings Plan for EGTRRA (9) 

10.4 Carver Bancorp, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of September 12, 2006 (10) 

10.5 Amendment to the Carver Bancorp, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan (11)

10.6 Carver Bancorp, Inc. 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (12)

10.7 Formal Agreement by and between Carver Federal Savings Bank and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (13)

10.8 Sales Agreement by and between Carver Bancorp, Inc. and Piper Sandler & Co., dated as of December 14, 2021 (14)

10.9 Investment Agreement, by and between Carver Bancorp, Inc. and National Community Investment Fund, dated July 19, 
2023 (15)

10.10 Employment Agreement with Craig C. MacKay (16)

11 Code of Ethics (17)

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (18)

23.1 Consent of Current Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm - BDO USA, P.C.
31.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer
31.2 Certifications of Chief Financial Officer
32.1 Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 

U.S.C. Section 1350
32.2 Written Statement of Chief Financial Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 

U.S.C. Section 1350
97.1 Carver Bancorp, Inc. Clawback Policy

Exhibits 
101

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) the Consolidated Statements of Condition, (ii) the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (iv) the 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (vi) the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements tagged as blocks of texts and in detail

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in iXBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
(1) Incorporated herein by reference to Registration Statement No. 333-5559 on Form S-4 of the Registrant filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 1996.
(2) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission filed on June 29, 2023.
(3) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission filed on July 6, 2011.
(4) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission filed on November 1, 2011.
(5) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission filed on February 1, 2021.
(6) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission filed on February 1, 2021.
(7) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission filed on September 30, 2021.
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(8) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission filed on June 29, 2023.

(9) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2003.

(10) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 31, 2006.

(11) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended December 31, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 17, 2009.

(12) Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A for the 2014 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 29, 2014.

(13) Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May 27, 2016.

(14) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission filed on December 14, 2021.  

(15) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on July 20, 2023.

(16) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on October 3, 2023.

(17) Incorporated herein by reference to the Exhibits to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2006.

(18) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fixcal year 
pended March 31, 2023. 

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant 
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 CARVER BANCORP, INC.

July 16, 2024 By /s/ Craig C. MacKay
Craig C. MacKay

 Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below on July 16, 
2024 by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated.
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/s/ Craig C. MacKay Director, Interim President and Chief Executive Officer
Craig C. MacKay (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Christina L. Maier First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Christina L. Maier (Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Lewis P. Jones III Chairman
Lewis P. Jones III

/s/ Colvin W. Grannum Director
Colvin W. Grannum

/s/ Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. Director
Pazel G. Jackson, Jr.

/s/ Jillian E. Joseph Director
Jillian E. Joseph

/s/ Kenneth J. Knuckles Director
Kenneth J. Knuckles

/s/ Robin L. Nunn Director
Robin L. Nunn
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Exhibit 21.1
CARVER BANCORP, INC.
Subsidiaries of Registrant

Ownership Percentage   State of  Incorporation Description

Carver Bancorp, Inc. Delaware Holding Company

Carver Federal Savings Bank  100 % New York Federal Savings Bank

CSFB Credit Corp.  100 % New York Inactive

CSFB Realty Corp.  100 % New York Real Estate Holding Company

Carver Asset Corp.  100 % Delaware Real Estate Investment Trust

Carver Community Development  Corporation  100 % Delaware Community Development

Sub CDE 1, LLC  100 % Delaware Lending Vehicle for NMTC

Sub CDE 22, LLC 99.00% 1 Delaware Inactive

Sub CDE 23, LLC 99.00% 1 Delaware Inactive

Sub CDE 24, LLC 99.00% 1 Delaware Inactive

Sub CDE 25, LLC 99.00% 1 Delaware Inactive

Alhambra Holdings Corp.  100 % Delaware Inactive

(1) Also owned 1.00% by Carver Community Development Corporation

In addition, Carver Bancorp, Inc. has created Carver Statutory Trust I to raise capital for its operations.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Carver Bancorp, Inc.
New York, New York

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-259551) and Form 
S-8 (No. 333-250199) of Carver Bancorp, Inc. of our report dated July 16, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial 
statements, which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

/s/ BDO USA, P.C.
New York, New York 

July 16, 2024 



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Craig C. MacKay, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carver Bancorp, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal controls over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting  
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 16, 2024 /s/ Craig C. MacKay
Craig C. MacKay
Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

     
        
        
        



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Christina L. Maier, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carver Bancorp, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal controls over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting  
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 16, 2024 /s/ Christina L. Maier
Christina L. Maier
First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION FURNISHED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Craig C. MacKay, is the Interim President and Chief Executive Officer of Carver Bancorp, Inc.  (the 
“Company”).

This certification is being furnished in connection with the filing by the Company of the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 (the “Report”).

I certify that:

a) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 (15 U.S.C.  78m(a) or 78o(d)); and

b) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods covered by the Report.

Date: July 16, 2024 /s/ Craig C. MacKay
Craig C. MacKay
Interim President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION FURNISHED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 18 U.S.C  SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Christina L. Maier, is the First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Carver Bancorp, 
Inc.  (the “Company”).

This certification is being furnished in connection with the filing by the Company of the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 (the “Report”).

By execution of this statement, I certify that:

a) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 (15 U.S.C.  78m(a) or 78o(d)); and

b) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods covered by the Report.

Date: July 16, 2024 /s/ Christina L. Maier
Christina L. Maier
First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 97.1

CARVER BANCORP, INC.
CLAWBACK POLICY

            The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Carver Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best 
interests of the Company and its shareholders to adopt this Clawback Policy (this “Policy”), which provides for the 
recovery of certain incentive compensation in the event of an accounting restatement.

The Company has adopted this Policy as a supplement to any other clawback policies or provisions in 
effect now or in the future at the Company.  To the extent this Policy applies to compensation payable to a person 
covered by this Policy, it shall supersede any other conflicting provision or policy maintained by the Company and 
shall be the only clawback policy applicable to such compensation and no other clawback policy shall apply; 
provided that, if such other policy or provision provides that a greater amount of such compensation shall be subject 
to clawback, such other policy or provision shall apply to the amount in excess of the amount subject to clawback 
under this Policy.  

This Policy shall be interpreted to comply with the clawback rules found in 17 C.F.R. §240.10D and the 
related listing rules of the national securities exchange or national securities association (the “Exchange”) on which 
the Company has listed securities, and, to the extent this Policy is any manner deemed inconsistent with such rules, 
this Policy shall be treated as retroactively amended to be compliant with such rules.

1.         Definitions.  The terms “Executive Officer,” “Incentive-Based Compensation,” and “Received” 
shall have the same meaning as defined in Rule 10D-1(d) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

2.         Application of the Policy.  This Policy shall only apply in the event that the Company is required to 
prepare an accounting restatement due to its material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under 
the Federal securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued 
financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material 
misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period. 

3.         Recovery Period.  The Incentive-Based Compensation subject to clawback is the Incentive-Based 
Compensation Received during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is 
required to prepare an accounting restatement as described in Section 2; provided that the individual served as an 
Executive Officer at any time during the performance period applicable to the Incentive-Based Compensation in 
question.  The date that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement shall be determined pursuant 
to Exchange Act Rule 10D-1(b)(1)(ii).

(a)        Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Policy shall only apply if the Incentive-Based Compensation is 
Received (1) while the Company has a class of securities listed on an Exchange and (2) on or after October 2, 2023.

(b)        See Exchange Act Rule 10D-1(b)(1)(i)(D) for certain circumstances under which this Policy will 
apply to Incentive-Based Compensation received during a transition period arising due to a change in the 
Company’s fiscal year. 

4.         Erroneously Awarded Compensation.  The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation subject to the 
Policy (“Erroneously Awarded Compensation”) is the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation Received that 
exceeds the amount of Incentive Based-Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been 
determined based on the restated amounts in the Company’s financial statements and shall be computed without 
regard to any taxes paid. 

(a)        For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the 
amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the 
information in an accounting restatement: (1) the amount shall be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the 
accounting restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation 



was received; and (2) the Company must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate 
and provide such documentation to the Exchange.  

5.         Recovery Exceptions.  The Company shall recover reasonably promptly any Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation except to the extent that the conditions of paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) below apply.  The Compensation 
Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) shall determine the repayment schedule for each amount of 
Erroneously Awarded Compensation in a manner that complies with this “reasonably promptly” requirement.  Such 
determination shall be consistent with any applicable legal guidance by the Securities and Exchange Commission, 
judicial opinion, or otherwise.  The determination of “reasonably promptly” may vary from case to case and the 
Committee is authorized to adopt additional rules to further describe what repayment schedules satisfy this 
requirement.

(a)        Erroneously Awarded Compensation need not be recovered if the direct expense paid to a third 
party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered and the Committee has made a 
determination that recovery would be impracticable. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any 
amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company shall make a 
reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to 
recover, and provide that documentation to the Exchange, as required.  

(b)        If applicable, Erroneously Awarded Compensation need not be recovered if recovery would violate 
home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022.  Before concluding that it would be 
impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country 
law, the Company shall obtain an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the Exchange, that recovery would 
result in such a violation and shall provide such opinion to the Exchange. 

(c)        Erroneously Awarded Compensation need not be recovered if recovery would likely cause an 
otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to 
fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, and regulations thereunder. 

6.         Committee Decisions.  Decisions of the Committee with respect to this Policy shall be final, 
conclusive and binding on all Executive Officers subject to this Policy, unless determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be an abuse of discretion.

7.         No Indemnification. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any other policy of the Company, 
the governing documents of the Company or any agreement between the Company and an Executive Officer, no 
Executive Officer shall be indemnified by the Company against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded 
Compensation.

8.         Agreement to Policy by Executive Officers.   The Committee shall take reasonable steps to inform 
Executive Officers of this Policy and the Executive Officers shall acknowledge receipt and adherence to this Policy 
in writing.  

9.         Exhibit Filing Requirement. A copy of this Policy and any amendments thereto shall be filed as an 
exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.

10.       Amendment. The Board may amend, modify or supplement all or any portion of this Policy at any 
time and from time to time in its discretion.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

 
Carver Bancorp, Inc. (the “Company”) filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 (“Form 10-K”) with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on July 16, 2024. The Company is filing this Amendment No. 1 to the Form 10-K, or “Form 10-K/A,” solely to revise
Part III of the report to include the information previously omitted from the Form 10-K. This Amendment No. 1 to the report continues to speak as of the date
of filing of the report, and except as expressly set forth herein we have not updated the disclosures contained in this Amendment No. 1 to the report to reflect
any events that occurred at a date subsequent to the filing of the report.
 
Pursuant to Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), this Amendment No. 1 also contains new certifications
of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Because no financial
statements are included in this Amendment No. 1 and this Amendment No. 1 does not contain or amend any disclosure with respect to Items 307 or 308 of
Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 of the Section 302 certifications have been omitted. In addition,
because no financial statements are included in this Amendment No. 1, new certifications of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial
officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are not required to be included with this Amendment No. 1.
 
Except as described above or as expressly noted in this Amendment No. 1, no other changes have been made to the Form 10-K.
 



 

 
PART III

 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
 
General
 

The Certificate of Incorporation of Carver provides that Carver’s Board of Directors shall be divided into three (3) classes, as nearly equal in number
as possible. The directors of each class serve for a term of three (3) years, with one (1) class elected each year. In all cases, directors serve until their successors
are elected and qualified.
 

Carver's Board of Directors has the discretion to fix the number of directors by resolution and has so fixed this number at seven (7).
 
Information Regarding Directors
 

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our directors. There are no arrangements or understandings between Carver and any
director pursuant to which such person was elected or nominated to be a director of Carver. For information with respect to the ownership of shares of the
Common Stock by each director, see “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management—Security Ownership of Management.”
 

Name  Age   
End

of Term   
Position Held with

Carver and Carver Federal  
Director

Since  
Kenneth J. Knuckles  77   2024   Director  2013  
Jillian E. Joseph  45   2024   Director  2019  
Pazel G. Jackson, Jr.  93   2025   Director  1997  
Robin L. Nunn  46   2025   Director  2022  
Craig C. MacKay
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2026

  
Interim Chief Executive Officer
and President, Director  

2017
 

Lewis P. Jones III  72   2026   Chairperson of the Board  2013  
Colvin W. Grannum  71   2026   Director  2013  
 
Directors’ Backgrounds
 

The principal occupation and business experience of each director is set forth below.
 

Jillian E. Joseph is Managing Director and Associate General Counsel at Nuveen, the asset management arm of TIAA. Ms. Joseph primarily supports
TIAA’s real estate business – Nuveen Real Estate. She is a lead attorney over approximately $7 billion of loan originations each year in fixed rate mortgage
financing, floating rate mezzanine lending, and structured debt offering. In addition to her extensive debt leadership, Ms. Joseph also supports the equity
business with over $12 billion yearly in real estate equity transactions – including property acquisitions and dispositions, complex joint ventures, portfolio
investments, fund investments, and REITS. Ms. Joseph earned her undergraduate degree from Colgate University and her law degree from the University of
Pennsylvania Law School. Ms. Joseph’s in-depth knowledge of real estate, finance and business law provides the Board with a unique and valuable perspective
into economic development and commercial lending issues.
 

Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. is the retired Senior Vice President of JPMorgan Chase. During his 37-year career in banking, he held positions of increasing
responsibility at JPMorgan Chase, Chemical Bank, Texas Commerce Bank and the Bowery Savings Bank. From January 1995 to 2000, Mr. Jackson was
responsible for mortgage market development throughout the United States for JPMorgan Chase. His prior positions included Senior Credit Officer of
Chemical Mortgage Company, Business Manager of Chemical Mortgage Division, Chief Lending Officer of Bowery Savings Bank and Marketing Director of
Bowery Savings Bank. Mr. Jackson was formerly Vice-Chairman of the Battery Park City Authority and formerly Chairman of The Mutual Real Estate Trust.
He is a licensed Professional Engineer with more than 16 years of senior management experience in design and construction. Mr. Jackson earned B.C.E. and
M.C.E. degrees from the City College of New York, an M.B.A. from Columbia University and a Doctorate in Business Policy Studies from Pace University in
New York. Mr. Jackson’s extensive senior level banking experience, including his extensive lending and real estate experience, coupled with his advanced
formal education, has given him front-line exposure to many of the issues facing Carver, as well as valuable insight needed as Chairperson of the Asset
Liability and Interest Rate Risk Committee. Mr. Jackson has been a member of the Boards of Directors of Carver and Carver Federal since 1997.
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Kenneth J. Knuckles is the retired President and Chief Executive Officer of the Upper Manhattan Empowerment Zone Development Corporation

(“UMEZ”), where he served for over 15 years. Mr. Knuckles is also Vice Chair of the New York City Planning Commission. Prior to joining UMEZ,
Mr. Knuckles was Vice President of Support Services and Chief Procurement Officer at Columbia University. Mr. Knuckles earned his undergraduate degree
from the University of Michigan and his law degree from Howard University School of Law. Mr. Knuckles’ experience in New York City community
development issues contributes to Carver’s mission to the communities it serves.
 

Robin L. Nunn is a Partner in the Litigation, Arbitration & Investigations Group at Linklaters LLP since 2023. From 2020 to 2023, Ms. Nunn was a
Partner and Co-Head of the Banking Group at Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP. Prior to that, from 2018 to 2020, Ms. Nunn was Partner and Chair of the
Consumer Financial Services Group at Dechert LLP. From 2017 to 2018, Ms. Nunn was Partner and Co-Chair of the Supervision, Enforcement and Litigation
Group at Davis Wright Tremaine. Ms. Nunn has also held senior legal positions with Capital One Financial Corporation and American Express. She began her
legal career as a Law Clerk for the Hon. Barrington Parker of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, and then was a Senior Associate with
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP. Ms. Nunn received her BA from Dartmouth College and her JD from the University of Chicago Law School. She is a graduate of
the Executive Development Leadership Program of the Harvard Business School. Ms. Nunn’s extensive legal experience advising financial institutions is a
valuable asset to the Board.
 

Craig C. MacKay is the Interim Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company and the Bank. Mr. MacKay is also a Senior Advisor and a
former Managing Director of England & Company. Mr. MacKay has over 33 years of investment banking experience focused on corporate financings, private
investments, and M&A advisory for middle market companies. He previously headed the Private Finance groups at Oppenheimer & Company, Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce, SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, and was the Managing Member and founder of HNY Associates, a private merchant bank and
advisory services firm. Since beginning his banking career at Bankers Trust Company in 1989, he has completed over $12 billion of middle-market domestic
and cross-border capital and corporate advisory engagements. Mr. MacKay has executed over 100 acquisition financings, leverage recapitalizations, growth
capital-raises, and refinancings as a trusted advisor across a broad spectrum of industrial sectors, including healthcare, business services, financial services,
manufacturing and consumer retail. He has served on numerous public and private corporate boards, non-profit boards and advisory councils, and presently
serves on the board of trustees of the Pioneer Funds (NASDAQ:PIODX) and the board of directors of Equitable Holdings (NYSE:EQH). Mr. MacKay earned
both his Bachelor of Science degree in Economics and Master of Business Administration degree in Finance at the Wharton School of the University of
Pennsylvania. Mr. MacKay’s experience in capital markets and corporate finance provides Carver with exceptional perspective on asset-liability management,
interest rate risk management and opportunities in its market area.
 

Lewis P. Jones III is Managing Principal and Co-Founder at 5 Stone Green Capital, an asset management firm that focuses on energy efficient and
sustainably-designed real estate developments, since 2010. Mr. Jones was an executive from 1988 to 2009 at JPMorgan Chase (and predecessor banks),
including serving as the Co-Portfolio Manager of the JPMorgan Urban Renaissance Property Fund and a senior member of the Acquisitions Team at JP Morgan
Asset Management. He also previously served as President of the Chase Community Development Corporation. Mr. Jones earned his undergraduate degree
from Harvard University and a law degree and MBA from Columbia University. Mr. Jones’s expertise in community development and green real estate lending
and investment offers Carver a unique perspective on burgeoning opportunities in its market area. Mr. Jones is Chairman of the Boards of Directors of Carver
and Carver Federal.
 

Colvin W. Grannum is the principal of Flagstaff Clapham Advisors, a comprehensive community economic development consulting practice. In 2022,
he retired as President and Chief Executive Officer of Bedford Stuyvesant Restoration Corporation, the nation’s first community development corporation,
where he served in that capacity for more than two decades. Mr. Grannum previously served as a founder and the first Chief Executive Officer at Bridge Street
Development Corporation. City and State Magazine named him to the Brooklyn Power 100 and New York Economic Development 75. He has authored articles
and op-eds on issues related to African American wealth creation, including homeownership. Local Initiatives Support Corporation and New York Housing
Conference honored him with their respective Lifetime Achievement Awards. Prior to his career in community development, he practiced law for more than 17
years in the private and public sectors. Mr. Grannum earned an undergraduate degree from University of Pennsylvania and a law degree from Georgetown
University Law Center. Mr. Grannum’s legal background, expertise in economic development in New York City, and financial inclusion policy offers Carver a
greater depth of understanding on the Bank’s market area and the needs of the changing communities that it serves.
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Executive Officers of Carver and Carver Federal
 

Biographical information for Carver’s executive officers who are not directors is set forth below. Such executive officers are officers of Carver and
Carver Federal.
 
Executive Officers
 

Christina L. Maier, 69, is First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since March 2016. Prior to joining Carver, Ms. Maier served as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Patriot National Bancorp, Inc. from 2013 through March 2016. Prior to her time with Patriot National
Bancorp, Inc., Ms. Maier spent over a decade in leadership positions at other financial institutions, including Brown Brothers Harriman, Provident New York
Bancorp and Hudson United Bancorp. Ms. Maier earned an M.B.A. in Finance from St. Thomas Aquinas College and a B.S. in Accounting from Fairleigh
Dickinson University.
 

Isaac Torres, 58, is Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary.  Prior to being appointed to his current role in February 2018, he
served as the Company's First Vice President, Assistant General Counsel and Corporate Secretary beginning in June 2014.  Mr. Torres is responsible for the
legal, regulatory, and corporate governance functions at the Company. Prior to joining Carver, he was Senior Counsel and Assistant Corporate Secretary of
MetLife, Inc.  Before his tenure at MetLife, he was an attorney with Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP, where he practiced in the areas of public finance and
economic development. Mr. Torres received a BA in Political Science from Stony Brook University, an MS in Management & Policy Analysis from the New
School for Social Research, where he was an Alfred P. Sloan Fellow, and his JD from St. John's University Law School.
 

Marc S. Winkler, 68, is Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer since April 2023. Prior to his current position, Mr. Winkler was Senior
Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer beginning in January 2022. Prior to joining Carver, Mr. Winkler was an Independent Consultant at Princeton Partners
FSG from 2019 through January 2022, engaging in net worth restoration planning, strategic planning and asset liability advisory. From 2015 until 2019,
Mr. Winkler worked as a consultant for the P&G Group, which included P&G Associates and GRC Risk Solutions. From 2018 until 2019, he was the Director
of Strategic Advisory Consulting Services for GRC Risk Solutions, which included managing the Sarbanes-Oxley compliance consulting practice.  Mr. Winkler
also served as an Interim Chief Financial Officer of Severn Bancorp, Inc. in 2019 pursuant to Mr. Winkler’s consulting work with CFO Consulting Partners,
LLC. Mr. Winkler’s consulting work in the banking industry included strategic planning, risk assessments, Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, internal audit function,
due diligence, and merger project management. Mr. Winkler also has served in various management positions in banks, including President and Chief
Executive Officer of Woodlands Bank in Williamsport, Pennsylvania, Asian Bank in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Twin Rivers Community Bank in Easton,
Pennsylvania. Mr. Winkler earned an MBA in Finance from the Rutgers Graduate School of Management, and a B.A. in Political Science from the University
of Cincinnati.
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Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports
 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires Carver’s directors and executive officers, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class
of Carver’s equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and the NASDAQ Stock Market. Officers, directors and
greater than ten percent stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish Carver with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.
 

Based solely on a review of copies of such reports of ownership furnished to Carver, or written representations that no forms were necessary, Carver
believes that during the last fiscal year, all filing requirements applicable to its directors, officers and greater than ten percent stockholders of Carver were
complied with except as follows: a required Form 3 for Robin L. Nunn and a required Form 4 for Craig C. MacKay were not filed on a timely basis.
 
Code of Ethics
 

Carver has adopted a Code of Ethics, which applies to Carver’s directors and employees and sets forth important Company policies and procedures in
conducting Carver’s business in a legal, ethical, and responsible manner. The Code of Ethics, including future amendments, is available free of charge on
Carver’s website at www.carverbank.com in the Corporate Governance section of the Investor Relations webpage or by writing to the Corporate Secretary,
Carver Bancorp, Inc., 75 West 125th Street, New York, New York 10027, or by telephoning (718) 230-2900. Carver intends to post on its website any waiver
under the codes granted to any of its directors or executive officers.
 
Finance and Audit Committee.
 

The Finance and Audit Committee consists of Directors Colvin W. Grannum (Chairperson), Pazel G. Jackson, Jr., and Kenneth J. Knuckles. All
members have been determined to be independent directors. The Finance and Audit Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to:
 

· monitor the integrity of Carver’s financial reporting process and systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting, and legal
compliance;

 
· manage the independence and performance of Carver’s independent public auditors and internal auditing function;

 
· monitor the process for adhering to laws, regulations and Carver’s Code of Ethics; and

 
· provide an avenue of communication among the independent auditors, management, the internal auditing function and the Board of

Directors.
 

Other specific duties and responsibilities include reviewing Carver’s disclosure controls and procedures, internal controls, Carver’s periodic filings
with the SEC and earnings releases; producing the required audit committee annual report for inclusion in Carver’s proxy statement; and overseeing complaints
concerning financial matters. The Finance and Audit Committee met eight (8) times during fiscal year 2024, including meetings to review Carver’s annual and
quarterly financial results prior to their public issuance.
 
Report of the Finance and Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
 

This report is furnished by the Carver Finance and Audit Committee of the Board of Directors as required by the rules of the SEC under the Exchange
Act. The report of the Finance and Audit Committee shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference
this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”), or the Exchange
Act, except to the extent that Carver specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed to be filed under the Securities
Act or the Exchange Act.
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The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter that sets forth the Finance and Audit Committee’s duties and responsibilities and reflects

applicable rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market and SEC regulations.
 

All members of the Finance and Audit Committee have been determined to be independent as defined in the listing requirements of the NASDAQ
Stock Market. The Board of Directors has determined that Pazel G. Jackson, Jr., Kenneth J. Knuckles, and Colvin W. Grannum each qualify as an “audit
committee financial expert.” The Finance and Audit Committee received the required written disclosures and letter from BDO USA, LLP, Carver’s independent
accountants for fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the
independent registered public accounting firm’s communications with the Audit Committee concerning the independent registered public accounting firm’s
independence. The Finance and Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with Carver’s management and BDO USA, LLP the audited financial statements of
Carver contained in Carver’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. The Finance and Audit Committee has also discussed
with BDO USA, LLP the matters required to be discussed pursuant to the Codified Statements on Auditing Standards No. 1301, as amended or supplemented.
 

Throughout the year, the Finance and Audit Committee had full access to management and the independent and internal auditors for Carver. The
Finance and Audit Committee acts only in an oversight capacity and necessarily relies on the assurances and work of Carver’s management and independent
auditors who expressed an opinion on Carver’s annual financial statements.  Carver's management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements
and the reporting process, including the systems of internal control.
 

As part of its ongoing activities, the Finance and Audit Committee has:
 

· reviewed and discussed with management, and our independent registered public accounting firm, the audited consolidated financial
statements of Carver for the year ended March 31, 2024;

 
· discussed with our independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301

Communications with Audit Committees, as amended, and as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board; and
 

· received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from our independent registered public accounting firm mandated by applicable
requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firm’s
communications with the Finance and Audit Committee concerning independence, and has discussed with our independent registered public
accounting firm its independence from Carver.

 
Based on its review and discussions described in the immediately preceding paragraphs, the Finance and Audit Committee recommended to the Board

of Directors that the audited financial statements included in Carver’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 be included in
that report.
 

Finance and Audit Committee of Carver
 

Colvin W. Grannum (Chairman)
Pazel G. Jackson, Jr.
Kenneth J. Knuckles
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
 
Summary Compensation Table at March 31, 2024
 

The following table presents compensation information regarding Carver’s Named Executive Officers at the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024.
 

Name and
Principal
Position  

Year
Ended

3/31   Salary   Bonus   
Stock

Awards   
Option
Awards   

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation  

Change in
Pension Value

and
Nonqualified

Deferred
Compensation

Earnings   
All Other

Compensation(1)  Total  
Craig C. MacKay,
Interim President
and Chief
Executive Officer
(2)

 2024   $ 205,961   —   —   —   —   —  $ 5,538  $ 211,499 

                                    
Michael T. Pugh,  2024   $ 321,908   —   —   —   —   —  $ 8,238  $ 330,146 
Former President
and Chief
Executive Officer
(3)  

2023

 

 $ 459,615

   

—

  

$ 68,400

   

—

   

—

   

—

  

$ 15,105

  

$ 543,120

 
                                    
Christina L. Maier, 2024   $ 267,152   —  $ 16,620   —   —   —  $ 5,414  $ 289,186 
First Senior Vice
President and
Chief Financial
Officer  

2023

  

$ 267,679

   

—

  

$ 20,520

   

—

   

—

   

—

  

$ 10,707

  

$ 298,906

 
                                    
Marc Winkler
Senior Vice
President and
Chief
Administrative
Officer (4)

 2024   $ 291,403   —  $ 16,620   —   —   —  $ 11,209  $ 319,232 

 
 
 

(1) Except as noted, the amounts shown in this column reflect matching contributions made to Carver’s 401(k) Plan.  No Named Executive Officer receives
perquisites the aggregate value of which exceeds $10,000.

(2) Appointed Interim President and Chief Executive Officer on October 1, 2023.
(3) Resigned as of August 6, 2023.
(4) Appointed Chief Administrative Officer on April 3, 2023.
 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
 

The following table shows equity awards outstanding for each of our named executive officers as of March 31, 2024. 
 

  Option Awards   Stock Awards  

Name  
Grant
Date   

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
Exercisable   

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
Unexercisable   

Option
Exercise
Price ($)   

Option
Expiration

Date   Grant Date   

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not

Vested   

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not

Vested(1) ($) 
Craig C. MacKay   12/14/2017   1,000   —  $ 3.48   12/14/2027   —   —   — 
Michael T. Pugh   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Christina L. Maier  —   —   —   —   —   04/25/2022   1,000(2) $ 1,530 
   —   —   —   —   —   10/26/2023   6,000(3) $ 9,180 
Marc Winkler                       10/26/2023   6,000(3) $ 9,180 
 
 

 (1)  Amounts shown are based on the fair market value of Carver common stock on March 28, 2024 of $1.53.
 (2)  Vest over three years, one third in each year commencing on April 25, 2023.
 (3)  Vest over three years, one third in each year commencing on October 26, 2024.
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Benefit Plans
 

401(k) Savings Plan. Carver maintains a 401(k) Savings Plan (“401(k) Plan”) with a profit-sharing feature for all eligible employees of Carver.
Carver matched contributions to the 401(k) Plan equal to 100% of pre-tax contributions made by each employee up to a maximum of 4% of their pay, subject
to IRS limitations. Carver suspended the matching contributions from November 2020 through December 2021. In January 2021, Carver reinstated the
matching contributions with an increase to the match contributions to 4%. All such matching contributions are fully vested and non-forfeitable at all times
regardless of the years of service with the Bank. Carver employees will be eligible to participate upon their hire date. To be eligible to enroll, the employee
must be 21 years of age. Under the profit-sharing feature of the plan, if the Bank achieves a minimum of 70% of its fiscal year performance goal, the
Compensation Committee may authorize a non-elective contribution to the 401(k) Plan on behalf of each eligible employee of up to 2% of the employee’s
annual pay, subject to IRS limitations. This non-elective contribution, if made, is awarded regardless of whether the employee makes voluntary contributions to
the 401(k) Plan. Non-elective Company contributions vest 20% each year for the first five years of employment and are fully vested thereafter. To be eligible
for the non-elective company contribution, the employee must be 21 years of age, have completed at least one year of service and be employed on the last day
of the plan year, currently December 31, or have terminated employment for death, disability or retirement. Carver did not award a non-elective contribution
for the 401(k) Plan year that ended December 31, 2022.
 
Employment Agreement
 

In connection with Craig C. MacKay’s appointment as the Interim President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Bank, the Bank entered
into an employment agreement (the “Employment Agreement”) with him effective October 1, 2023 and the key terms of the Employment Agreement are as
follows:
 

Term. The term of the Employment Agreement commenced on October 1, 2023 (the “Term”) and the Term will end upon the earlier of: (i) the date the
Board of Directors appoints a permanent President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Bank, (ii) Mr. MacKay provides written notice to the Bank
that the Term will expire at the end of the month in which the notice of expiration is delivered to the Bank, or (iii) April 1, 2024 provided that the Bank delivers
a notice of expiration to Mr. MacKay no later than March 1, 2024.  Commencing on April 1, 2024, if notice of expiration has not been delivered by either party,
the Term shall automatically renew each month for an additional month until either party provides written notice to the other party that the Term will expire at
the end of the month in which the notice of expiration is delivered.
 

Cash Compensation. Mr. MacKay’s annual base salary will be $450,000, and Mr. MacKay may receive a bonus at the discretion of the Board of
Directors or the Compensation Committee.
 

Equity Grant. No later than five days after the last day of the Term (the “Grant Date”), Mr. MacKay will receive a grant of Company stock equal to the
product of (i) 42,553 and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of months (including partial months) in the Term and the denominator of
which is 12.  The award will be one-hundred percent (100%) vested as of the Grant Date.
 

Benefits. Mr. MacKay will be entitled to participate in all employee benefit plans, arrangements and perquisites offered to senior management of the
Bank, on terms and conditions no less favorable than the plans, arrangements and perquisites available to other members of senior management of the Bank.
 

Termination without Cause or for Good Reason following a Change in Control.  In the event of a change in control of the Bank or the Company,
followed by Mr. MacKay’s termination of employment without “cause” or with “good reason,” Mr. MacKay would be entitled to a severance payment in the
form of a cash lump sum equal to three times the sum of: (i) Mr. MacKay’s base salary at the date of termination (or Mr. MacKay’s base salary in effect during
any of the  prior three years, if higher); and (ii) the average annual total incentive bonus earned by Mr. MacKay for three most recently completed calendar
years prior to the change control, or if greater, the annual total incentive bonus that would have been earned in the year of the change of control at target bonus
opportunity.  In addition, Mr. MacKay would be entitled to a cash lump sum payment equal to the value of health care costs for thirty-six  months.  The
definitions of “cause” and “good reason” are set forth in the Employment Agreement.  In the event that payments to Mr. MacKay become subject to Sections
280G and 4999 of the Code, such payments would be reduced if such reduction would leave him better off on an after-tax basis.
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Restrictive Covenants. The Employment Agreement also provides non-competition and non-solicitation restrictions during the term of employment

and for generally one year thereafter, and confidentiality during the term of employment and surviving the end of the term of employment.
 
Director Compensation
 

Carver’s directors are paid an annual cash retainer of $20,000 to serve as a Director of both Carver and Carver Federal and receive a meeting fee of
$1,000 for Board meetings attended. The chairs of the Asset Liability and Interest Rate Risk and Finance and Audit committees receive an annual retainer of
$8,000 and a meeting fee of $800. The chairs of the remaining committees receive an annual retainer of $4,000. The committee members of the
Compensation, Institutional Strategy and Nominating and Corporate Governance, including the chairs thereof receive $600 per committee meeting attended.
The Non-Executive Chairperson is paid a quarterly cash retainer of $17,500 ($70,000 per year) to serve as Chairperson of both Carver and Carver Federal and
does not receive a meeting fee for Board meetings attended. As chair of the Compliance Committee, he also receives an annual retainer of $8,000. Upon
shareholder approval of new directors, the Compensation Committee may approve a grant of 1,000 shares of restricted stock and 1,000 stock options, which
vest pursuant to Carver’s incentive plan in effect at the time of the grant.
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The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by the non-employee directors of Carver during the fiscal year ended

March 31, 2024.
 
Director Compensation at March 31, 2024
 
              Change in        

              pension        
  Fees            value and        
  earned         Non-equity   nonqualified        
  or paid   Stock   Option   incentive plan   deferred   All other     
  in cash   awards   awards   compensation   compensation   compensation   Total  

Name  ($)   ($)   (S)   ($)   earnings   ($)   ($)  
(a)  (b)   (c)   (d)   (e)   (f)   (g)   (h)  

Pazel G.
Jackson, Jr.  $ 62.900   —   —   —   —   —  $ 62,900 
Robin L. Nunn  $ 78,100   —   —   —   —   —  $ 78,100 
Lewis P. Jones
III  $ 78,000   —   —   —   —   —  $ 78,000 
Colvin W.
Grannum  $ 61,000   —   —   —   —   —  $ 61,000 
Kenneth J.
Knuckles  $ 25,600   —   —   —   —   —  $ 25,600 
Craig C.
MacKay (1)  $ 45,500   —   —   —   —   —  $ 45,500 
Jillian E.
Joseph  $ 50,000   —   —   —   —   —  $ 50,000 
 

(1) Mr. MacKay was a non-employee director until his appointment as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer on October 1, 2023. Following his
appointment as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. MacKay did not receive any additional compensation for service on our Board or
Carver Federal’s Board.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
 

The following table sets forth information about the shares of Voting Stock authorized by Carver for issuance under equity compensation plans as of
March 31, 2024.
 
        Number of
        securities
  Number of   Weighted-   remaining
  securities to be   average   available for future
  issued upon   exercise   issuance under
  exercise of   price of   equity
  Outstanding   outstanding   compensation plans
  options,   options,   (excluding securities
  warrants and   warrants   reflected in column
Plan Category  Rights   and rights   (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1) 6,267 $ 5.27  26,334
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders —  —  —
Total  6,267 $ 5.27  26,334
 
 

(1)           Note: Shares have been adjusted to reflect Carver’s 1-for-15 reverse stock split, effective October 27, 2011.
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS.
 
Security ownership of certain beneficial owners.
 

The following table sets forth, as of July 24, 2024, certain information as to shares of Voting Stock beneficially owned by persons owning in excess of
5% of any class of Carver’s outstanding Voting Stock. Carver knows of no person, except as listed below, who beneficially owned more than 5% of any class of
the outstanding shares of Carver’s Voting Stock as of July 24, 2024. Except as otherwise indicated, the information provided in the following table was
obtained from filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and with Carver pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”). Addresses provided are those listed in the filings as the address of the person authorized to receive notices and communications. Except
as otherwise indicated, each person and each group shown in the table has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of Voting Stock
indicated and none of the shares are pledged as security. Percentages with respect to each person or group of persons have been calculated on the basis of
5,140,872 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of July 24, 2024, plus the number of shares of common stock which such person or group has the right to
acquire within 60 days after July 24, 2024 by the exercise of stock options.
 
Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
 

Name and Address of Beneficial Owners  

Amount of
Shares

Owned and
Nature of
Beneficial

Ownership (1)   

Percent of
Shares

of Common
Stock

Outstanding  
5% Beneficial Stockholders         
Jeffrey John Bailey
936 N, Parker Street
Orange, CA 92867   278,524(1)  5.42%
         
National Community Investment Fund         
135 South LaSalle Street, Suite 3025
Chicago, IL 60603   399,821(2)  7.78%
 
 

(1) Based on a Schedule 13D filed on December 20, 2022.
(2) Based on a Schedule 13G filed on July 21, 2023.
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Stock Ownership of Management
 

Name  Title  

Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership of

Common Stock (1)   
Percent of Common
Stock Outstanding  

Lewis P. Jones III  Chairperson of the Board   1,500   * 
Pazel G. Jackson, Jr.  Director   6,326   * 
Colvin W. Grannum  Director   2,740   * 
Kenneth J. Knuckles  Director   2,000   * 
Craig C. MacKay  Interim President and Chief Executive Officer, Director   6,000   * 
Jillian E. Joseph  Director   1,667   * 
Robin L. Nunn  Director   1,000   * 
Christina L. Maier  First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   13,000   * 
Marc S. Winkler  Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer   6,000     
All directors and other executive
officers as a group (10 persons)     57,591   1.12%

 
 

* Less than 1% of outstanding Common Stock.
(1) Amounts of equity securities shown include shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days as follows: Mr. Jones – 1,000;

Mr. Grannum – 1,000; Mr. Knuckles – 1,000; Mr. McKay – 1,000; Ms. Joseph – 667; all officers and directors as a group – 4,667.
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
 
Transactions with Certain Related Persons
 

Applicable law requires that all loans or extensions of credit to executive officers and directors must be made on substantially the same terms,
including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with the general public and must not involve more than the
normal risk of repayment or present other unfavorable features. Carver Federal offers loans to its directors, officers and employees, which loans are made in the
ordinary course of business and are not made with more favorable terms nor do they involve more than the normal risk of collectability or present unfavorable
features. Furthermore, loans above the greater of $25,000, or 5% of Carver Federal’s capital and surplus (up to $500,000), to Carver Federal’s directors and
executive officers must be approved in advance by a majority of the disinterested members of Carver Federal’s Board of Directors. As of the date of this
document, neither Carver nor Carver Federal had any outstanding loans or extensions of credit to any of its executive officers or directors.
 
Director Independence
 

The Board of Directors has determined that each of non-management directors is independent according to the Board’s independence standards as set
out in its Bylaws, Corporate Governance Principles, applicable rules of the SEC and the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market. They are Robin L. Nunn, Lewis
P. Jones III, Colvin W. Grannum, Kenneth J. Knuckles, Pazel G. Jackson, Jr. and Jillian E. Joseph. Mr. MacKay will not be considered an independent director
during his tenure as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.
 
General
 

Carver’s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended March 31, 2024 was BDO USA, LLP, New York, New York, PCAOB ID:
243.
 
Audit Fees
 

BDO USA, LLP’s billed audit fees for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 were $372,000 and $355,000, respectively.
 
Audit-Related Fees
 

Carver’s audit-related fees during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 were $88,140 and $119,000, respectively.
 
Tax Fees
 

Carver’s incurred tax fees during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 were $35,665 and $33,000, respectively.
 
All Other Fees
 

Carver did not engage its current principal accountant to render services during the last two fiscal years, other than as reported above.
 
Pre-Approval Policy for Services by Independent Auditors
 

During fiscal year 2024, the Finance and Audit Committee of Carver’s Board of Directors pre-approved the engagement of BDO USA, LLP to provide
non-audit services and considered whether, and determined that, the provision of such other services by BDO USA, LLP is compatible with maintaining BDO
USA, LLP’s independence.
 

The Finance and Audit Committee has a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the Company’s independent
auditor consistent with applicable SEC rules. Under the policy, prior to the engagement of the independent auditors for the next year’s audit, management
submits an aggregate of services expected to be rendered during that year for each of the four categories of services described above to the Finance and Audit
Committee for approval. Prior to engagement, the Finance and Audit Committee pre-approves these services by category of service. The fees are budgeted and
the Finance and Audit Committee will receive periodic reports from management on actual fees versus the budget by category of service. During the year,
circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent auditors for additional services not contemplated in the pre-approval. In
those instances, the Finance and Audit Committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging the independent auditor.
 

The Finance and Audit Committee has delegated pre-approval authority, subject to certain limits, to the chairman of the Finance and Audit Committee.
The chairman is required to report, for informational purposes, any pre-approval decisions to the Finance and Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled
meeting.
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PART IV

 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
 

(a)(iii) Exhibits. See below. Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed has been identified.
 
31.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
31.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded in the cover page formatted in Inline XBRL)
 
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY.
 

None.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to

be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
   CARVER BANCORP, INC.
    
July 29, 2024  By /s/ Craig C. MacKay
   Craig C. MacKay
   Interim President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Craig C. MacKay, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Carver Bancorp, Inc.; and
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report.
 

Date: July 29, 2024 /s/ Craig C. MacKay
  Craig C. MacKay
  Interim President and Chief Executive Officer
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Christina L. Maier, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Carver Bancorp, Inc.; and
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report.
 

Date: July 29, 2024 /s/ Christina L. Maier
  Christina L. Maier
  First Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

 

 



Corporate Headquarters: 
75 West 125th Street 
New York, NY 10027 

Please visit our website at: www.carverbank.com 


